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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  My name is Erik

          3  Martin Dilan, and I'm the Chair of the Housing and

          4  Buildings Committee.  Today the Committee will

          5  conduct a hearing on Introduction No. 578-A, a Local

          6  Law to amend the -- not an A, it's just a Local Law

          7  to amend the -- the Commission that doesn't want it

          8  to be an A also.  A Local Law to amend the Charter

          9  of the City of New York's Administrative Code in

         10  relation in enacting the City Construction Codes and

         11  repealing Chapter One of Title 26 of the

         12  Administration Code, Sections all preceding with 27,

         13  Sections 106, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 129, 130,

         14  131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, and 137 of the

         15  Administrative Code, as well as Articles 9 through

         16  25 and 27 of Subchapter One of Title 27 of the

         17  Administrative Code of Subchapter 19 of Chapter One

         18  of Title 27 of the Administrative Code, Chapters 1,

         19  2, 3, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of Title 28 of the

         20  Administrative Code.  I'm glad we got through all

         21  that.

         22                 It will also include everything

         23  that's in Intro 578. Intro 578 will establish a

         24  Building Code, Mechanical Code Fuel Gas Code for the

         25  City of New York and adopt certain administrative
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          2  provisions relating to the operations of the

          3  Buildings Department, including those for

          4  permitting, licensing and payment of various fees

          5  and fines.

          6                 Local Law 99 of 2005 adopted a new

          7  Plumbing Code and certain Administrative provisions

          8  and set in motion a process for the adoption of the

          9  2003 editions of the International Building Code,

         10  the International Fuel Gas Code, Mechanical Code and

         11  Residential Code, with modifications for the City of

         12  New York, where appropriate, as the basis of a new

         13  Building Code.

         14                 Intro 578 eliminates the

         15  International Residential Code from consideration at

         16  this time, as appropriate measures were incorporated

         17  into the new Building Code proposal.

         18                 The current efforts of the

         19  Administration to revise and update the City's

         20  Building Code is known as the Model Code Program.

         21  Buildings Codes provide for minimum standards for

         22  construction of buildings in order to protect the

         23  health, safety and welfare of the general public.

         24  The Model Code Program is organized and managed by

         25  the Department of Buildings and has been comprised
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          2  of over 400 volunteers who serve on various Building

          3  and Electrical Code committees.  The process to

          4  update and revise the Building Code parallels the

          5  process the City and the Department of Buildings use

          6  to update the Electrical Code.

          7                 The Model Program has had 13

          8  technical committees involved in drafting the new

          9  Code and retained eight advisory committees to offer

         10  policy advice in areas impacted by the Building

         11  Code.  Technical Committees consist of the

         12  following: Accessibility,

         13  Administrative/Enforcement, Construction

         14  Requirements, Construction Safety & Demolition,

         15  Egress, Elevators and Conveyors, Existing Buildings,

         16  Fire Protection, Materials, Mechanical HVAC and

         17  Boilers, Plumbing, Residential and Structural

         18  Foundation.

         19                 The Advisory Committees as of this

         20  date consist of: Affordable Housing, Banking and

         21  Insurance, Economic Development, Labor, Risk and

         22  Security and Sustainability.  With regards to the

         23  Building Code, the Technical Committees are involved

         24  in the assessment and drafting the technical code

         25  language, and the Advisory Committee functions to
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          2  provide recommendation in key public policy areas

          3  that would be impacted in Building Code revisions.

          4                 The Managing Committee and key staff

          5  at the Department of Buildings shepherded the

          6  efforts to amend the Building Code and made

          7  recommendations to the Commissioner.  DOB will be

          8  responsible for the review, assessment, compilation

          9  and implementation and training relating to this

         10  proposed code.

         11                 The current version of the Building

         12  Code enacted as Local Law 76 of 1968 has been

         13  subject to numerous amendments and, to my knowledge,

         14  some historical perspective, I believe, a gentleman

         15  named Edward I. Koch was a member of this Committee

         16  at that time.  The Building Code became effective on

         17  December 6, 1968 and superseded the Building Code

         18  that was enacted in 1938.

         19                 The current code applies to

         20  construction, alteration, repair, demolition,

         21  removal, maintenance, occupancy and use of both new

         22  and existing buildings in the City.

         23                 The stated purpose of the Building

         24  Code is to provide a reasonable minimum requirements

         25  and standards based upon current scientific and
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          2  engineering knowledge, experience and technique and

          3  the utilization of modern machinery, equipment,

          4  materials and forms and methods of construction for

          5  regulation of building construction in New York City

          6  in the interest of public safety and general welfare

          7  for our citizens.

          8                 Although the current Building Code is

          9  based largely upon nationally accepted performance

         10  standards and specification for materials and

         11  construction assemblies, there have been many modern

         12  advances and changes due in part to the advent of

         13  new technologies that have not been incorporated

         14  into the Building Code.

         15                 In November of 2002, Mayor Michael

         16  Bloomberg, in cooperation with Buildings

         17  Commissioner, Patricia Lancaster and the predecessor

         18  of myself to this Committee, Madeline Provenzano,

         19  formed the Commission to formulate recommendations

         20  for the adoption of a Model Building Code to

         21  supplant the current and antiquated code.

         22                 Intro 578 is the end product of all

         23  those efforts and is also based on International

         24  Code Council's companion codes and incorporates

         25  specific modifications and provisions based on the
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          2  City's current Building Code.

          3                 In 2002, the State of New York

          4  significantly reformed the State's Building Code by

          5  adopting several International codes, which are

          6  model codes produced by the International Building

          7  Code, with amendments, as the new state code.  The

          8  new State Building Code replaced New York's Uniform

          9  Fire Prevention and Building Codes, and has been in

         10  effect since 1984. The application of these

         11  coordinated model codes, with amendments, with the

         12  exception of the state's Energy Code, do not apply

         13  within the jurisdiction of New York City.

         14                 The Committee expects to hear

         15  testimony from many individuals and organizations,

         16  including representatives of the Department of

         17  Buildings, architects, engineers, developers, labor,

         18  accessibility representatives, fire safety

         19  professionals and other persons and entities

         20  interested in this legislation.

         21                 Now for the benefit of the public,

         22  and for also the Council Members, because of the

         23  size of the legislation from my colleagues, these

         24  laptops have been set up for our reference because

         25  from what I understand, the bill is over 2,000 pages
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          2  long. As a visual, it consists of both of those

          3  binders together.

          4                 For the public, if anyone is

          5  interested in looking at the Code, the computer

          6  services staff has set up a computer towards the

          7  back, from my perspective the left hand portion of

          8  the room, for anyone in the audience that wishes to

          9  view it, and there's a hard copy there as well.

         10                 Before we turn it over to

         11  Commissioner Lancaster, who is here with us, I also

         12  would like to acknowledge the presence of some of my

         13  colleagues, and I'll start to my far right.  We have

         14  the Taskforce Committee Chair, Jimmy Oddo, as well

         15  as the Minority Leader of the City Council, Tom

         16  White to my immediate left, as well as Tony Avella,

         17  and I see Council Member Mendez is joining us.

         18                 I also want to take this time to

         19  thank the Committee staff for Housing and Buildings

         20  because I know they spent many hours working in

         21  conjunction with the Buildings Department on this

         22  issue, and it's headed by my counsel, Terzah Nasser.

         23                 I also have been informed that there

         24  is a laptop and a binder for any of the witnesses as

         25  well.  So I guess without further ado, I'd like to
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          2  ask, and I'll start with myself that everyone place

          3  their cell phones on vibrate, and if they have any

          4  private conversations, if they could please have

          5  them outside of the chamber while the testimony is

          6  ongoing.

          7                 With that, I'd like to give you the

          8  City's Building Commissioner, Patricia Lancaster who

          9  from what I understand, has worked many hours and

         10  years on what is finally before us today.

         11                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Good

         12  morning, Chairperson Dilan and Members of the

         13  Committee on Housing and Buildings.  As the

         14  Chairperson, I am Patricia, Commissioner of the

         15  Department of Buildings.  I'm joined today by three

         16  staff members of whom I am particularly proud.

         17  Fatma Amer, the Department's Deputy Commissioner for

         18  Technical Affairs and Chief Code Engineer on my far

         19  right, Phyllis Arnold, Deputy Commissioner for Legal

         20  Affairs and Chief Code Counsel on my left, and

         21  Benjamin Jones, Assistant Commissioner of the Model

         22  Code Program on my immediate right.

         23                 I'm also joined by the Department's

         24  project managers, architects, engineers, lawyers and

         25  other experts from our Model Code team.  Thank you
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          2  for this opportunity to testify in support of Intro

          3  578, the proposed new New York City Construction

          4  Codes.  We are absolutely thrilled to be here today

          5  to take with you this historic step towards

          6  enactment of these codes.

          7                 The adoption of the New York City

          8  Construction Codes is indeed historic.  Today's

          9  hearing marks the culmination of an effort that

         10  began as a campaign promise by Mayor Bloomberg

         11  during his first campaign and that grew into an

         12  initiative championed by members and professionals

         13  of industry, the development community and other

         14  building experts and advocates for safety in the

         15  aftermath of September 11th.

         16                 We are extremely proud to be here

         17  with you today to discuss the new codes, how they

         18  achieve safety, savings and innovation and how they

         19  will make this City a better place to live, work and

         20  build.

         21                 Building codes are truly the backbone

         22  of a city.  We take them for granted, but their

         23  shape and content is critical to so many aspects of

         24  our infrastructure and our lives.  From the way a

         25  home is built in Queens to the way a school is
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          2  renovated in the Bronx, to the way a hotel is

          3  designed in downtown Brooklyn, to the way a hospital

          4  is constructed in Staten Island, to the way a high

          5  rise takes shape over midtown Manhattan, the City's

          6  Building Code is our foundation, and like the earth

          7  on which we build, must be bedrock.

          8                 New York City's Building Code will

          9  celebrate its 40th birthday next year, but that's

         10  hardly cause for celebration. Over the last four

         11  decades, the world has changed and our construction

         12  and design technology has taken quantum leaps.

         13  While we have amended our code during that period by

         14  adding provisions for access for people with

         15  disabilities adopting a seismic code, and adding

         16  important safeguards for high- rise commercial

         17  structures in the aftermath of September 11th, there

         18  has been no comprehensive re- write since 1968.  Our

         19  code still has a lot of catching up to do.

         20                 From the beginning of the re- writing

         21  efforts some four and a half years ago, the Council

         22  has been an essential partner in our process.  As a

         23  result, many of you know the details of the Model

         24  Code Project.  You know that, apart from its age,

         25  the current code is complex, convoluted and
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          2  sometimes contradictory. You know that it lags

          3  behind the country in reflecting important, national

          4  standards and innovative technologies, and you know

          5  that over 400 representatives of real estate,

          6  architectural and engineering firms, labor,

          7  government, construction and affordable housing have

          8  contributed hundreds of thousands of hours of their

          9  time and committee work to address these

         10  shortcomings by helping draft the new codes.

         11                 Their effort and the work of our

         12  staff at the Department has generated a product that

         13  we can all be proud of.  It will lead the way for

         14  high density urban localities around the country

         15  towards adoption of a uniform and consistent

         16  national standard governing building design and

         17  construction.

         18                 In 2005, you took the first step in

         19  support of this challenge by enacting Local Law 99.

         20  The blueprint legislation marked the path for the

         21  City's adoption, modified fit the City's condition,

         22  of the set of model codes developed by the

         23  International Code Council.  Local Law 99 enacted

         24  the New York City Plumbing Code, adapted the

         25  International Plumbing Code and initial set of
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          2  administrative provisions, as well as place holders

          3  in the new Title 28 of the Administrative Code for

          4  the New York City Building, Mechanical and Fuel Gas

          5  Codes.

          6                 Local Law 99 was proposed to become

          7  effective only if and when the Council adopted those

          8  remaining codes in a completion bill.  This proposed

          9  Local Law before you is that completion bill.  It

         10  revises the administrative provisions enacted in

         11  Local Law 99 and adds necessary authority on

         12  enforcement.  It fills out the technical provisions

         13  of the new construction codes by adding a new

         14  Building Code, Fuel Gas Code and Mechanical Code.

         15                 This bill would repeal those portions

         16  of Titles 26, 27 and 28 of the Administrative Code

         17  superseded by the new provisions.  All portions of

         18  the new construction codes are proposed to become

         19  effective July 1, 2008.

         20                 Regarding existing buildings, the new

         21  construction codes are proposed to apply

         22  prospectively to new construction. While the ICC

         23  family of codes includes an existing building code,

         24  we determined that the first critical step in

         25  transitioning from the 1968 code to a new set of
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          2  standards for all buildings was to first adopt and

          3  implement a code for new construction.

          4                 Once the new codes are in place, we

          5  will turn to the development of an existing building

          6  code for the City.  In the interim, at the option of

          7  the owner, existing buildings constructed in

          8  accordance with the 1968 Building Code or in

          9  accordance with the building laws in effect prior to

         10  1968, will, with certain exceptions mainly for

         11  construction and fire safety, enforcement and

         12  accessibility, be governed by the 1968 code.

         13                 Revisions to Local Law 99 and the

         14  blueprint plan. The Department was required to

         15  revise the administrative and enforcement provisions

         16  enacted in Local Law 99.  Many of those provisions

         17  were edited and placed in more appropriate locations

         18  in Chapter 1 of each individual code.  Moreover,

         19  Local Law 99 did not contain a complete and uniform

         20  schedule of penalties requiring the development of

         21  an integrated enforcement text.  The revisions

         22  proposed reflect a more flexible scheme that will

         23  permit the Department to focus its resources where

         24  they are needed the most.

         25                 The proposed legislation does not
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          2  contain a new residential code.  The International

          3  Code Council's Residential Code covers one and two-

          4  family dwellings, whereas its building code covers

          5  all other new buildings.  After reviewing the work

          6  product of the technical committees that developed

          7  the text, the Department concluded that the City

          8  could effectively address one and two family

          9  dwellings in the body of the Building Code itself.

         10  Accordingly, the proposed building code covers new

         11  construction of all building types.

         12                 Benefits of the Code.  Moving on to

         13  the substance of the proposed changes, safety is

         14  front and center.  The new codes have provisions

         15  that take safety requirements further than ever

         16  before.  Residential enhancements include expanded

         17  sprinkler coverage requiring sprinklers in new

         18  residential buildings with three or more units,

         19  attached two- family homes and in one and two family

         20  houses over three stories in height.  This brings us

         21  in line with National sprinkler standards for new

         22  construction.

         23                 More smoke alarms, requiring smoke

         24  alarms inside each bedroom within 15 feet of each

         25  bedroom and at every level in multi- level units.
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          2  This is more extensive coverage than the current

          3  code provides.

          4                 More effective fire detection,

          5  compelling the hard wired and interconnected

          6  insulation of smoke alarms within dwelling units and

          7  apartments.  This way, when an alarm is set off,

          8  alarms will ring in the rest of the unit as well.

          9                 Safer dormitories.  Classifying

         10  student dormitories similarly to hotels in order to

         11  better protect students with fire protection

         12  features traditionally found in transient

         13  occupancies, including sprinklers and automatic and

         14  manual fire alarm systems.

         15                 High- rise construction will benefit

         16  from targeted new life safety features including

         17  requiring systems for fire fighters to communicate

         18  to building occupants, high- rise residential

         19  buildings more than 125 feet in height will have a

         20  one way voice communication system in apartments and

         21  stair enclosures.

         22                 Wider stairs so that people can exit

         23  tall buildings more effectively, four 44- inch

         24  stairs will be required in high- rise residential

         25  buildings greater than 125 feet in height.  This is
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          2  wider than the current code's 36 inch requirement.

          3                 Improved sprinklering capacity.

          4  Secondary on site water supplies will be required in

          5  high- rise buildings over 300 feet in height and in

          6  other high- rise buildings subject to high seismic

          7  activity.

          8                 Preventing smoke contamination via

          9  elevator shafts. Elevator lobbies constructed with

         10  smoke partitions will be required in all new, non-

         11  residential high- rise buildings.

         12                 Emergency power to provide back up

         13  power for essential functions.  Emergency generators

         14  will be required in residential buildings more than

         15  125 feet in height for egress lighting and for at

         16  least one elevator.

         17                 Stronger stairwell construction.

         18  Stair and elevator enclosures will be constructed of

         19  impact resistant walls, an expansion of the World

         20  Trade Center legislation to residential buildings.

         21                 More effective fire fighting

         22  capabilities.  High rise buildings will have

         23  improved standpipe system requirements providing

         24  more water for extinguishing fires.

         25                 In the area of construction safety,
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          2  the proposed codes will make important improvements,

          3  including enhanced monitoring at construction sites,

          4  expanding site safety by requiring a site safety

          5  coordinator or manager for buildings between 10 and

          6  15 stories high from the current threshold of 15

          7  stories, protecting adjacent property during

          8  excavations, removing the 10 foot distinction

          9  marking the point at which a developer performing

         10  excavation is responsible for protecting the

         11  adjacent property.  If the adjacent property owner

         12  refuses to permit the developer to protect the

         13  adjacent structure, that owner is made responsible

         14  for doing so and can be issued violations for

         15  failing to do so regardless of the depth of the

         16  excavation.

         17                 Strengthening checks and balances for

         18  demolitions. Requiring engineering calculations and

         19  Department approval before a building can be

         20  demolished using mechanical equipment other than

         21  handheld devices.  For the first time, partial

         22  demolitions will have to follow all demolition

         23  safety requirements.

         24                 The proposed codes also strengthen

         25  structural provisions by updating wind load
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          2  requirements to reflect location, building heights

          3  and an importance factor.  They also enhance

          4  structural requirements for tall buildings by

          5  calling for designs that will strengthen and protect

          6  the key columns and other elements of a building to

          7  withstand extreme events, as well as for structural

          8  peer review by a qualified independent structural

          9  engineer in certain cases.

         10                 There are additional requirements for

         11  all buildings, including vehicular impact and high

         12  pressure design load specifications.  And for

         13  stronger continuity and ties, meaning increased

         14  structural integrity through additional strength and

         15  detailing of members and their connections.

         16                 We have also made important

         17  improvement in the code's administration and

         18  enforcement.  The changes are intended to give the

         19  Department more teeth to enforce the codes, to put

         20  our inspection resources where they are needed the

         21  most and to allow us to focus on bad actors and

         22  repeat offenders.

         23                 For example, the codes give the

         24  Commissioner power to adopt standards for

         25  participation in our professional certification
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          2  program.  The codes will continue to strictly

          3  regulate construction site maintenance.  When work

          4  is interrupted or operations otherwise discontinued

          5  or abandoned, the site must be fenced, filled and

          6  graded.  All construction sites must conform to

          7  prescribed housekeeping requirements designed to

          8  protect the public.

          9                 The codes re- tool the Department's

         10  violation and order scheme in order to enable it to

         11  better devote its resources to conditions and

         12  buildings that present public safety threats. The

         13  codes establish a flexible violation classification

         14  scheme and enhance penalties to correspond to it.

         15                 We propose to eliminate the

         16  distinction between hazardous and non- hazardous

         17  violations in favor of a more nuanced system modeled

         18  on HPD's.  We will call them immediately hazardous,

         19  major and lesser violations.  The Council will have

         20  the power to classify infractions legislatively as

         21  one or the other.

         22                 For example, in this bill violating a

         23  stop work order will be an immediately hazardous

         24  violation, as will unlawful demolition and high

         25  density illegal residential conversions. Infractions
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          2  that are not classified legislatively will be

          3  classified by the Department by rule, giving us the

          4  flexibility we need to respond to changing

          5  construction and occupancy patterns.

          6                 The bill also provides for increased

          7  penalties by providing a range for each of the

          8  classification in violations. Today the maximum for

          9  all but illegal conversions and outdoor advertising

         10  signs is $5,000.  The proposed codes top out at

         11  $25,000 for a first immediately hazardous violation,

         12  and $10,000 for major violations.  The adjudicator,

         13  whether civil or criminal, will be given authority

         14  to consider mitigating and aggravating

         15  circumstances.  The codes extend the Padlock Law to

         16  cover high intensity commercial and manufacturing

         17  uses in C- 1 and C- 2 overlays and introduce a new

         18  violation for having illegally converted to

         19  residential use a building whose legal occupancy is

         20  manufacturing or industrial use.

         21                 The code requires that annual boiler

         22  inspection reports that disclose a defective

         23  condition be accompanied or followed by a

         24  certification that the condition has been repaired.

         25  The code's modified maintenance requirements for
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          2  retaining walls, the code's mandate of paint mandate

          3  payment of outstanding penalties before issuance of

          4  a certificate of occupancy.

          5                 We also expect the codes to

          6  facilitate the continuing rise in economic

          7  development throughout the City.  Among the changes

          8  that make this possible are material and equipment

          9  that meets national standards will be able to be

         10  used without waiting for the separate City approval

         11  currently required, saving time and money and

         12  facilitating innovative designs.

         13                 The codes will be organized according

         14  to the ICC format, which is widely recognized by the

         15  industry as being more user- friendly.

         16                 Department operations will be

         17  streamlined by authorizing electronic processing and

         18  longer license and permit durations.

         19                 Sustainability and innovation will

         20  also play a more prominent role in the codes.  Fee

         21  rebates will encourage sustainable building,

         22  including achieving lead status, recycling

         23  demolition waste, using renewable energy and

         24  surpassing requirements of the State Energy Code.

         25                 To facilitate energy savings, the
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          2  codes will require white roofs which reflect heat

          3  and thus will help reduce the heat island effect and

          4  will allow both green roofs for cooling and help to

          5  reduce storm water overflow to rivers, as well as

          6  use of water conservation systems.

          7                 They will also provide more efficient

          8  heating, cooling and ventilation requirements.

          9                 The City's accessibility requirements

         10  will be updated for the first time in 20 years.  For

         11  example, requiring an accessible means of exiting

         12  for a building with people with disabilities.  Our

         13  standards will also be better harmonized with

         14  federal standards.

         15                 New provisions in the codes will

         16  facilitate construction of biotechnology facilities

         17  like hospitals, research centers, laboratories and

         18  pharmaceutical companies.

         19                 Now despite these advancements, I

         20  realize that there are some sensitive subjects that

         21  I'd like to take a moment to address head on.

         22                 The affordable housing prototype.

         23  The new codes

         24  authorize a four- story, one stair designed building

         25  that will facilitate development of affordable
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          2  housing, an important City initiative.  This design

          3  is already built today on a case- by- case basis,

          4  but it is proposed here with safety enhancements

          5  that far exceed those in place under the current

          6  code.  Although some are concerned that this design

          7  does not include a public hall between stairs and an

          8  apartments, I'd like to share with you the important

          9  safety measures that are required as part of this

         10  design.

         11                 The building must be of non-

         12  combustible construction, the entire building must

         13  be sprinklered, each unit must have a hardwired

         14  interconnected smoke alarm, and each floor may have

         15  no more than three units, each unit must have a

         16  window facing a street or yard that has direct

         17  access to the street, and the stairwell is required

         18  to be constructed with windows facing the street or

         19  extended to the roof with a bulkhead.

         20                 These measures make this type of

         21  building safer than current construction of this

         22  type.  Also, having the stairwell open directly to

         23  the apartments addresses a security issue for

         24  affordable housing proponents concerned with

         25  security in enclosed public halls.

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 Safety requirements.  Some will say

          3  that safety requirements should go even further in

          4  the new codes.  For example, some feel fire alarms,

          5  emergency power and sprinkler requirements should

          6  even be more extensive than those proposed.  I've

          7  heard their concerns and share their desire to make

          8  New York City buildings as safe as possible.  That

          9  is why I am so proud of these codes, precisely

         10  because they take safety requirements further than

         11  ever before.  Even though some of these expanded

         12  requirements increase construction costs slightly, I

         13  consider them important investments for the safety

         14  of those who live and work in our City's buildings.

         15                 Costs and savings.  We have also been

         16  mindful of costs and conducted a more comprehensive

         17  cost analysis than any jurisdiction adopting a model

         18  code.  Based on our study, I am pleased to say that

         19  the overall effect of the proposed codes on hard

         20  construction costs nets to zero with many

         21  opportunities for savings identified.

         22                 On top of that, the soft costs

         23  resulting from opening the market to new and

         24  innovative materials and equipment and making the

         25  codes faster and easier to use, are expected to
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          2  result in significant savings.

          3                 There are sure to be further

          4  opportunities for enhancements in safety, savings

          5  and innovation.  As advancements in technology and

          6  construction practices are made and people identify

          7  ways to improve the codes, we will change them.  One

          8  of the key benefits of the code is a mandated three

          9  year Department revision cycle, mirroring the

         10  revision cycle followed by the International Code

         11  Council.  This will ensure that 40 years do not go

         12  by before the codes are updated again.  Thus, not

         13  long after implementing these codes, we will begin

         14  the process of updating them again.

         15                 My vision for the City's Buildings

         16  Department is to house the foremost technical, legal

         17  and administrative construction code experts in the

         18  nation.  We as a City should raise the bar at the

         19  national and even international level for

         20  construction standards.  With your help, we can do

         21  just that.

         22                 Also, New Yorkers should have

         23  construction codes that enable the Buildings

         24  Department to facilitate compliant development as

         25  effectively as possible here in our own communities.
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          2  We can't do that without your support of Intro 578.

          3                 Despite any disagreements over

          4  particular items, I hope you see that as a package

          5  overall these codes achieve significant advancements

          6  that will make buildings safer and better. The time

          7  is now.  It is important to pass this legislation so

          8  we can begin work on implementing these changes,

          9  developing the existing building code and focusing

         10  on another round of updates to make the next

         11  revision even better.

         12                 Once again, thank you for holding

         13  this hearing and allowing me to testify in support

         14  of this important legislation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you,

         16  Commissioner.  I also understand that you've been

         17  joined by your colleague, the Commissioner of the

         18  City's Department of Housing and Preservation, and I

         19  guess he'll provide a few words of testimony, but

         20  before he does, I've also been joined by my

         21  colleague, Council Member Leroy Comrie of Queens.

         22  So with that, Commissioner Donovan, welcome, and the

         23  floor is yours.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN:  Thank you very

         25  much.  Good morning, Chairman Dilan and Members of
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          2  the Housing and Buildings Committee.  I'm Shaun

          3  Donovan, Commissioner of the Department of Housing,

          4  Preservation and Development, or HPD, and I'm here

          5  to testify in support of the changes to the New York

          6  City Building Code as proposed in Intro 578, also

          7  known as NYC Construction Codes.

          8                 As many of you have heard me say

          9  before, as the nation's largest municipal provider

         10  of affordable housing, HPD's mission involves two

         11  key strategies, first increasing the overall

         12  construction of housing while second, also building

         13  and preserving housing that is specifically

         14  affordable to low and moderate income New Yorkers.

         15                 Intro 578 will help us continue to

         16  fulfill our mission by simplifying and streamlining

         17  our construction code. When we released the housing

         18  vacancy survey last year, it was evident that we

         19  have made tremendous strides in retaining and

         20  improving our housing stock over the previous three

         21  year period. Most notable, the number of housing

         22  units in the City it has been since the Census

         23  Bureau started to report its findings in 1965.  In

         24  addition, the number of rent stabilized units

         25  increased and the City's homeownership rate reached
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          2  record levels.  Finally, neighborhood satisfaction

          3  has increased to an all time high, and the

          4  dilapidation rate continued to fall.

          5                 One byproduct of our success is an

          6  affordability challenge.  That is why the Mayor

          7  expanded his five- year new housing marketplace plan

          8  to a 10- year, $7.5 billion plan to build and

          9  preserve 165,000 affordable housing units by 2013.

         10  The Mayor's plan is the largest municipal affordable

         11  housing plan in the nation's history and will create

         12  enough affordable housing for 500,000 people, more

         13  than the entire population of Atlanta, Georgia.

         14                 This past March, we reached a

         15  tremendous milestone in the housing plan.  More than

         16  55,000 units, or one- third of the 165,000

         17  affordable housing units in the Mayor's new housing

         18  marketplace plan have been funded.

         19                 A major reason that affordable

         20  housing is out of reach for many New Yorkers is the

         21  still significant housing shortage.  In the 1990's

         22  New York City added over 700,000 people, but the

         23  pace of housing construction did not create enough

         24  units to house the new New Yorkers.  Between 1990

         25  and 2000, only 78,607 housing units were permitted,
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          2  leading to a gap between demand for units and

          3  supply.

          4                 When the demand for housing out paces

          5  supply, the resulting imbalance makes costs go up

          6  and housing becomes less affordable.  The high cost

          7  of construction in New York has historically been a

          8  factor in discouraging housing production and

          9  preventing us from building enough housing.  These

         10  NYC construction code reforms will help change that.

         11                 Mayor Bloomberg has fostered a

         12  climate that encourages housing construction.  The

         13  Mayor's affordable housing plan and ambitious series

         14  of rezonings and changes to the City's tax laws are

         15  all helping us to build housing at record levels.

         16  The years 2005 and 2006 combined represent the

         17  highest two- year total for residential building

         18  permits since 1965, the earliest year for which

         19  there is reliable data.  Furthermore, the years that

         20  Mayor Bloomberg has been in office have seen the

         21  highest five- year total, over 127,000 units since

         22  1965.  But we must continue a strong pace of

         23  building construction, especially as our City's

         24  population continues to grow.

         25                 In April, Mayor Bloomberg outlined
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          2  PlaNYC 2030 to help us combat global warming and

          3  prepare for an additional million New Yorkers.  As

          4  part of that plan, the Mayor committed to new

          5  proposals that will expand our housing supply

          6  potential by up to 500,000 new homes in order to

          7  ease our current housing gap and make housing more

          8  affordable.  The greatly needed changes which are

          9  proposed in Intro 578 will allow us to build that

         10  new housing in ways that are safer, less expensive

         11  and more energy efficient.

         12                 I applaud my colleague, Commissioner

         13  Lancaster, the members of the taskforces and HPD's

         14  partner at the Council, Chairman Dilan and his

         15  colleagues, for your historic proposal to overhaul

         16  the antiquated building codes that are hindering our

         17  ability to build affordable housing for today's New

         18  Yorkers and tomorrow's newest New Yorkers.

         19                 The proposed NYC construction codes

         20  were tailored to meet the unique conditions that New

         21  York's density, small lot size and its variety of

         22  occupancy and building types create. Specifically,

         23  this bill will greatly expand fire safety codes,

         24  including expanded sprinkler requirements, enhanced

         25  structural integrity requirements, while also
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          2  expanding construction safety. New requirements will

          3  upgrade buildings to better withstand extreme

          4  conditions, especially in large buildings with

          5  unique structural designs.  It will also require a

          6  site safety coordinator for all development projects

          7  that are 10 or more stories.

          8                 The new codes follow nationally

          9  adopted standards and allow the use of new materials

         10  and technologies making housing more affordable and

         11  allowing us to save considerable time and resources.

         12    The nationally adopted standards will also create

         13  more predictability in review and approval, which

         14  will mean less risk in both time and plan amendments

         15  for developers.

         16                 In the end, these crucial changes

         17  will mean more affordable housing to our fellow

         18  citizens.  We must ensure that a significant share

         19  of the housing created is affordable to low and

         20  moderate income New Yorkers.  This legislation is in

         21  keeping with Mayor Bloomberg's continuous focus on

         22  efforts to modernize our great City and make it more

         23  efficient and more affordable.

         24                 This legislation will also encourage

         25  green design standards, one of the cornerstones of
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          2  the PlaNYC initiative in an ongoing focus at HPD.

          3  We learned from the research conducted for PlaNYC

          4  that 79 percent of the City's greenhouse gas

          5  emissions come from buildings.  HPD is working to

          6  build housing that is more sustainable by

          7  incorporating design practices and materials that

          8  will ensure healthier indoor air quality, energy

          9  efficiency, water conservation and the use of

         10  environmentally preferable products.

         11                 The new construction codes will bring

         12  those practices and materials to privately built

         13  homes as well.  With these changes, we can build new

         14  homes at lower costs and provide new opportunities

         15  to create hundreds of thousands of new homes, even

         16  on top of our existing affordable housing plan, the

         17  largest ever undertaken by any city in the nation.

         18                 Thank you very much for having me

         19  here today, and I appreciate your time and

         20  attendance.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, I'd like to

         22  thank you both, and I understand, Commissioner

         23  Donovan, you have an appointment and have to leave

         24  us at this time, is that accurate?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN:  Unfortunately,
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          2  I do, but I leave the hearing in the very able hands

          3  of my colleagues.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Well, before you

          5  go, I just want to clear it with my members to make

          6  sure that they have no questions for you.  You're

          7  free to go.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN:  Thank you very

          9  much. Whatever you say, Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you for

         11  your testimony on behalf of the building code today.

         12    So that brings us to the Q & A portion of this

         13  hearing.  I'll lead off, and I have Council Member

         14  Avella following me, and if any of my colleagues

         15  want to follow, just please let us know.  If there

         16  are any members of the audience that wish to present

         17  testimony on behalf, please see the Sergeant at-

         18  Arms and fill out one of these appearance cards and

         19  just state whether you wish to appear in favor or in

         20  opposition.  Please see the Sergeant- at- Arms.

         21                 Commissioner, I just want to start

         22  with some of the procedural items in the bill.  You

         23  mentioned in your testimony that the International

         24  Residential Code was eliminated from the code. Why

         25  was it eliminated from consideration at this time?
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          2  Could you elaborate a little bit more?

          3                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Sure.  We

          4  incorporated one and two- family residential

          5  buildings into the Building Code itself, thereby not

          6  necessitating the appearance of a second residential

          7  only code.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I just want to go

          9  over to some effective date issues.  The new code

         10  would become, if we pass it now, would become

         11  effective summer of 2008.  When will the current

         12  code become obsolete?

         13                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  The current

         14  code covers alterations as well as new buildings, so

         15  the current code will become obsolete after the

         16  existing building code is passed and obsolete for

         17  new buildings in July 1 of 2008.  No, I'm sorry,

         18  there's a one- year grace period, so July 1 of 2009,

         19  the new building portion of the existing code will

         20  become obsolete.  Do you want me to say that again?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Yes, if you could

         22  just restate it again.  Then after you do that, just

         23  say if we're allowed -- well, just restate it again,

         24  and I'll get to my next question.

         25                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  If this bill
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          2  is passed, the new New York City construction codes

          3  will take effect on July 1, 2008.  There will be a

          4  grace period of one year to July 1 of 2009 when you

          5  can use either the new code or the old code.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, so that

          7  would allow a period where you can mix and match?

          8                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Grace

          9  period, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Codes, so to

         11  speak?

         12                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Well, really

         13  you can use either one or the other.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  How will

         15  the public then know how to apply which codes and

         16  when?  And will rules be posted online issued

         17  through the Department?  Is there a provision in the

         18  bill that explains the potential overlap of the old

         19  code and new codes?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  In the bill

         21  itself, no. But the rules, you're absolutely correct

         22  that we will need to write rules that will be

         23  pertinent to the new code over the next year or so.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Why did certain

         25  provisions of the current building code limit the
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          2  jurisdiction of the Environmental Control Board?

          3                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  I'm going to

          4  refer this Phyllis Arnold, Deputy Commissioner for

          5  Legal Affairs and Chief Code Counsel.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  The

          7  current Building Code in Title 26 contains a section

          8  that deprives the Commissioner of authority to make

          9  certain violations returnable at ECB.  The

         10  violations that are specified in that section in

         11  general have to do with certain fire safety

         12  reporting requirements.  Many of those provisions

         13  that are referenced in that section refer to Local

         14  Law 16 of 1984 and the reporting requirements that

         15  Local Law 16 imposed, all of which are outdated.

         16                 In other cases, the fire safety

         17  provisions referenced are such that there's really

         18  no reason that ECB can't hear those violations the

         19  same way they hear every other violation in the

         20  Building Code.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Now I just want

         22  to jump over to some questions on accessibility that

         23  you mentioned.

         24                 Much of the proposed code deals with

         25  new construction.  What updates have been made to
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          2  the proposed code in relating to accessibility

          3  issues for people with impairments or, for example,

          4  people who use wheelchairs?

          5                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Fatma?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  He has to speak

          7  into the mic and introduce himself for the record.

          8                 MR. WIND:  Chairman and Committee

          9  Members, I'm Keith Wind, architect from the

         10  Department of Buildings.  In the new building code

         11  we actually, for the first time in 20 years, we are

         12  actually introducing federal requirements into the

         13  Building Code. For the past 20 years we haven't been

         14  really following Americans with Disabilities Act and

         15  Fair Housing Amendments Act, so this is the first

         16  time we're putting that in. Also, another

         17  improvement in the new Building Code for people who

         18  use wheelchairs is that we're actually putting in

         19  provisions for accessible means of egress, so not

         20  only that we deal with how people enter a building,

         21  but also how people with disabilities will need to

         22  evacuate in case of a fire or other emergencies.  So

         23  those are the two examples that I can talk about

         24  right now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Will every new

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  building that's built after this code is implemented

          3  be accessible to people who use wheelchairs and/or

          4  scooters?  And just please say why or why not.

          5                 MR. WIND:  Yes, I will be because we

          6  are actually maintaining a lot of provisions from

          7  the Local Law 58 and, like I said before, we are

          8  also putting in a lot of provisions from federal

          9  requirements.  So it's actually a product that

         10  includes a lot of provisions addressing the needs

         11  for people with disabilities.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.

         13  Commissioner, in the proposed code, I guess both the

         14  terms demolition and partial demolition are defined.

         15    Is the term alteration defined?  If not, why not?

         16  And does the DOB intend to continue using the term

         17  alteration in order to issue various permits?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  Phyllis

         19  here.  The definition includes the term addition.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  What was that?

         21  Includes the term?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:

         23  Addition.  If you take a look in the proposed new

         24  Title 28, there is a section 2801.5 that contains

         25  definitions that are going to govern, intended to
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          2  govern, all of the codes.  What we did really was

          3  change the phrase alteration to addition to mean an

          4  alteration of a building in existence, and then we

          5  qualified it in a way that makes clear that it's

          6  increasing dimensions or floor area or height.  So

          7  we've really substituted one term for another.

          8  Certainly, when we turn to the development of an

          9  existing building code, we will hone in on

         10  substantive provisions that govern additions and

         11  alterations in a way that these codes don't yet do.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  So does the DOB

         13  then doesn't intend to continue to use the terms

         14  alteration type 1, 2 or 3?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  Those

         16  terms reflect ways that people file applications

         17  with us, the specifications, alt. 1, alt. 2, alt 3's

         18  are not in today's code.  They're really operational

         19  categories, operational terms.  I think as we, over

         20  the course of the next year turn our attention

         21  towards implementing the new law, we will need to

         22  make some operational decisions about what we call

         23  these applications.  So I expect we will very likely

         24  continue to use terminology that reflects the same

         25  concepts, different types of additions or
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          2  alterations, but I can't tell you today exactly the

          3  terminology we're going to develop after July 1.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Just a technical

          5  question, then I'll open it up to some of my

          6  colleagues and I'll come back towards the end.

          7                 Will the DOB have the power to

          8  disallow materials even if they've been approved by

          9  an outside agency?

         10                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Yes, we

         11  will.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, great.  At

         13  this time, I'm going to come back towards the end.

         14  At this time, I'm going to turn it over to my

         15  colleague, Council Member Tony Avella.  He'll be

         16  followed by Council Member Leroy Comrie.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chair.  A couple of questions, Commissioner.

         19  First of all, I'd like to follow up on the point

         20  that the Chair just brought up about alterations.

         21  We've had situations where developers will come in,

         22  demolish a building but leave up one wall so that

         23  they can qualify under an alteration as opposed to a

         24  new building permit.  Does the new building code

         25  address that issue?  Because sometimes that wall
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          2  isn't even free standing.  They have to prop it up

          3  so they can get in under the alteration.  What does

          4  the new code do about that situation?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AMER:  Actually,

          6  this definition I think goes back to the first

          7  question about the demo and the partial demo.  It's

          8  not the type of application that we should concern

          9  ourselves about because it's an operation issue, but

         10  actually for the first time we are detailing anybody

         11  who might come as a partial demo to comply with all

         12  the safety standards as a full demo if it has to be.

         13    It means it depends on the extent of the work.

         14  That's very much detailed in our new construction

         15  safety provisions.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  I'm not so

         17  much talking about the safety aspect of it as to

         18  opposed, if they're doing an alteration, they may be

         19  able to apply under let's say the previous zoning or

         20  the previous building code, whereas a new building

         21  they might have to apply to the new zoning and

         22  building situation.  So that's what I'm really

         23  addressing here.  By leaving one wall up, they're

         24  allowed to get away with adhering to the new zoning,

         25  let's say.  Again, that's my question.  How does the
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          2  new building code address that?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  If I

          4  may, Council Member.  Neither the current code nor

          5  the new proposed codes deal with the question of

          6  grandfathering under zoning.  The question you raise

          7  is really an operational question in terms of how we

          8  implement the code filing requirements, allow people

          9  to come and file a job.  The nomenclature,

         10  alteration new building that has significance for

         11  grandfathering under zoning is one that doesn't

         12  necessarily -- a new building under zoning might

         13  well be a new building under zoning -- in other

         14  words, required to comply with new zoning

         15  requirements regardless of how you file it

         16  operationally with the Department.  So the answer to

         17  your question lies in the areas of operation and

         18  zoning and not in either the current code or the new

         19  codes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  You're

         21  telling me we can't put something into the code?  I

         22  mean, I just don't understand your answer, to be

         23  perfectly honest.  If, in fact, developers are

         24  allowed to circumvent new zoning by leaving one wall

         25  up, isn't that something you can address in the
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          2  code?  You're telling me no?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  I'm

          4  telling you we have not dealt with the operational

          5  filing issues in the code.  As Fatma indicated,

          6  we've defined partial demolitions, and that's a new

          7  term.  The current code does not define a partial

          8  demolition at all, and when we implement the new

          9  codes, we expect to be able to capitalize on that

         10  distinction in a way that enables us to layer on top

         11  of code requirements operational systems that will

         12  reflect different levels of demolitions, not just

         13  raising the building.  I expect that we'll be able

         14  to best address your concerns, Council Member, in

         15  the implementation process.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Can I have a

         17  commitment that you will do that?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  We'll

         19  certainly be looking at that question.  I can't tell

         20  you now how we're going to solve the problem, but

         21  absolutely I'll commit to you that we'll be looking

         22  at it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Okay.  One of

         24  the things that, Commissioner, you didn't mention

         25  but was highlighted in the briefing that your staff
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          2  gave to some of the Council Members was that you, in

          3  the code, you were making changes from issuing one

          4  year construction permits to two years.  I note it

          5  because I raised that as an issue during the

          6  briefing that I would oppose that under certain

          7  circumstances.  I noticed you didn't mention that in

          8  your briefing.  Has there been a follow up

          9  discussion, or you just didn't mention that?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  We're

         11  aware of the question you raise that I'm prepared to

         12  address it now for you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Absolutely.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  We put

         15  the authority in the codes for permits up to two

         16  years really as a matter of administrative

         17  convenience for us and for the filing community.  As

         18  a practical matter, as a threshold issue, once we

         19  move to fully electronics filing system, my guess is

         20  the convenience won't matter a whole lot one way or

         21  another because you'll be able to renew online for

         22  all types of permits.  But until we get there, we

         23  thought a two- year duration would make it easier

         24  for people and dispense with their need to come back

         25  to the Department to renew a permit for a job that
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          2  is ongoing over many years.

          3                 In terms of the worksite maintenance

          4  issue, which is, I gather, the issue that's driven

          5  your question, we have in the new code carried over

          6  provisions for housekeeping and fencing and grading

          7  requirements for active construction sites and for

          8  construction sites where work is interrupted or

          9  otherwise abandoned.

         10                 So, for example, to take the latter

         11  first, where you have a site that really hasn't seen

         12  any activity in months, notwithstanding the fact

         13  that there's an active permit, the new Chapter 33

         14  that Fatma alluded for construction safety, contains

         15  provisions that required that site to be fully

         16  fenced and specifications for the fence and fully

         17  filled and graded in a way that's designed to keep

         18  it from becoming a safety issue while the activity

         19  is in suspense.

         20                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  The current

         21  code is silent on these points.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  And she just

         23  sort of mentioned the reason that I was bringing it

         24  up because you have a lot of situations where for

         25  whatever the reason, the developer abandons the
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          2  construction site or goes on to another construction

          3  project while leaving that one just vacant for the

          4  time being.  My concern was that why give that type

          5  of situation the ability to have a two- year permit.

          6    At least you would have some sort of oversight by

          7  one year.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  Among

          9  the rules we're going to be looking at after July 1

         10  is how to implement the two year authority because

         11  it doesn't say that all permits will necessarily be

         12  two years.  It will say that we may provide for

         13  permits of up to two years.  It may well be that we

         14  will classify kinds of jobs that call for a longer

         15  duration of permits from those that don't, and we

         16  may be able to deal with some of the issues you're

         17  addressing with a small job that just sits there in

         18  the course of the rule promulgation process.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  It's a good

         20  point because I've seen situations where a job site

         21  sits for six or seven years with no activity, and

         22  it's a quality of life nightmare for the residential

         23  community.  In that respect, two aspects of that,

         24  one, is there anything in the code, and I don't

         25  believe there is, that when you're maintaining this
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          2  vacant site in terms of maintenance and

          3  housekeeping, about having the fencing free of

          4  graffiti?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  No, our

          6  codes are today and tomorrow are directed to the

          7  construction safety aspect of site maintenance, not

          8  so much to graffiti.  That kind of issue, the way a

          9  site looks, the aesthetics of the site, is really I

         10  think the domain of the Department's Sanitation and

         11  the Police Department, really is public order kind

         12  of infractions not addressed by current or proposed

         13  codes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  The second

         15  part of my question in this respect is, in terms of,

         16  you mentioned that on let's say on a vacant site,

         17  did I hear correctly, the foundations would be

         18  filled in?  At one point then do you determine the

         19  site has been vacant long enough that you're going

         20  to require the developer to make the site safe?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AMER:  It's

         22  actually in the proposed revision, there is a three-

         23  month period after the expiration of the last

         24  permit.  It means if the site was abandoned, there

         25  is no activity for a three- month period, after the
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          2  last expiration date of the last permit, we will be

          3  ordering the developer to fill in, fence the site

          4  and fill in the hole.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  That sort of

          6  brings me back to my first question about the one

          7  year to two year.  If you extend the permit then to

          8  two years, you're talking about two years and three

          9  months while the foundation could be sitting there

         10  with a big hole in the ground, which is obviously a

         11  huge safety issue.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AMER:

         13  Abandonment can be reported to the Buildings

         14  Department at any one point, but this is the

         15  expiration date for the Building Department

         16  operation, the expiration permit would be the cut

         17  off date.  However, abandonment can be reported to

         18  the Department at any time.  And if it's proven

         19  right, we would be requiring the developer to do the

         20  same thing.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Commissioner,

         22  I just want to go back to your testimony on page 9,

         23  with respect to the evacuation and protecting the

         24  adjacent properties.  Now I assume that obviously,

         25  you know, this is an attempt to correct a very
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          2  serious situation where developers have gone in and

          3  damaged neighboring properties' foundations.  Could

          4  you go into this with a little more detail?

          5                 Let's just take one developer who

          6  always come to mind, Tommy Haung (phonetic) who has

          7  a tremendous history of doing this in every piece of

          8  property he comes across, does excavation, damages

          9  the neighboring property and the neighbors have to

         10  privately sue in court.

         11                 Will the changes that you're making

         12  here, not only make the developer more responsible

         13  for making the area safe and protecting the

         14  neighborhood property, will this ensure that the

         15  agency will now come to the aid of the adjacent

         16  property owner who is the innocent victim in this

         17  type of situation?  I mean, it has always bothered

         18  me philosophically that a developer can damage

         19  neighboring property, you could have senior citizens

         20  or homeowners who can't afford to go to court, and

         21  the agency has told them you have to sue civilly.

         22  How does this change the dynamics that exist today?

         23                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Well, for

         24  one thing, it eliminates the necessity for the

         25  Department to step in only after a property has been
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          2  dug 10 feet deep, and that's a very good thing. Now

          3  additionally, the Department traditionally, and

          4  going back 40 years, 100 years, limited itself to

          5  the property line.  In other words, our jurisdiction

          6  was within the property lines, and the world has

          7  changed since then.  We need now to be concerned

          8  about adjacent property owners as well.  So we have

          9  the ability to issue stop work orders in a case such

         10  as the one that you mentioned.

         11                 We have two issues, as you probably

         12  know, one of which is when the developer damages

         13  either on purpose or not on purpose, the adjacent

         14  property for the purpose of harassing the owner so

         15  that they take action such as leaving so he can buy

         16  that property or selling to him, and therefore we

         17  need very much to protect the adjacent owner.  This

         18  would force the contractor of the center property to

         19  let us know what he's doing about the neighboring

         20  properties.

         21                 As well, there's an issue that the

         22  adjoining property won't give the contractor access,

         23  so they can protect the adjacent property.  If that

         24  is the case, the owner is made responsible for doing

         25  so, and it can be issued violations now for failing
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          2  to do that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I'm happy to hear

          4  that.

          5                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  It's better.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  I mean, it's

          7  good, there's no question.  It's better, but I guess

          8  where the agency stops is then in terms of getting

          9  restitution from the damages, that's where the

         10  agency is going to stop?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  That's

         12  correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  My next to

         14  last point is going to be the part on page 10 where

         15  you say, and to allow us to focus on bad actors and

         16  repeat offenders.  Again, I'll bring up the name of

         17  Tommy Haung.  I mean, here's a person which even the

         18  agency has acknowledged has consistently failed to

         19  follow the Building and Zoning Code on almost every

         20  piece of property that this person has touched.  Is

         21  there something in this new code that gives the

         22  agency the ability to say, that's it, you're done,

         23  you're prohibited from doing construction in this

         24  City?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  No.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Why not?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  Well, we

          4  are aware that the Council is considering the issue

          5  of general contractor licensing.  Council Member

          6  Oddo has been a proponent of that concept, and so is

          7  the Department.  Until it's enacted, we did not

          8  address that issue in this code.  That's going to be

          9  the subject of a whole discussion in its own right.

         10  Rightly so, I think.  So there is nothing here that

         11  will enable the Department to stop a builder, a

         12  property owner at the door.

         13                 We do though expect this code to

         14  enable us to be on the ground more, to deploy our

         15  resources in a way that puts us on the ground in a

         16  more focused way, not necessarily sending an

         17  inspector to every complaint if it's appropriate not

         18  to, and rather sending our inspectors in a concerted

         19  way to the locations that we know are problematic

         20  and to the repeat offenders who we are aware have a

         21  history of violating codes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  It's my

         23  understanding that the state actually has prohibited

         24  Tommy Huang from building condominiums, so if the

         25  state can do this, why can't we do it right now
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          2  without having to do additional legislation?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  My

          4  understanding of the state's action is that it was

          5  taken under the Martin Act, and that governs the

          6  disclosure requirements for coop and condominium

          7  offerings.  That's really a whole different thing

          8  than regulating building construction in the City.

          9  Obviously, we are looking enthusiastically at other

         10  ways to regulate construction activities so that we

         11  can ensure a sort of competence and integrity to the

         12  process, but the state's action, I believe, was

         13  predicated on an entirely different statutory

         14  scheme.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair.  I certainly want to yield the floor to

         17  my colleagues.  The one comment I would have, Mr.

         18  Chair, is that I know there seems to be an effort to

         19  pass this legislation this month.  Clearly, there

         20  are a lot of very good things in this bill, but we

         21  all know the devil's in the details.  I would

         22  certainly want to make sure that this Council and

         23  the City has full opportunity to hear from the

         24  public, make sure that we are addressing every issue

         25  that comes up, and I just make that as a general
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          2  comment that although we need to do this

          3  expeditiously, we shouldn't make a rush to do it.

          4  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you,

          6  Council Member Avella.  Next I'll go to Council

          7  Member Comrie.  He'll be followed by Council Member

          8  Oddo, and we've also been joined by Council Member

          9  Bob Jackson from Manhattan.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chair.  Good morning, Commissioner.  I want to

         12  congratulate you and your staff for going through

         13  this four- year process.  I remember the beginning

         14  of this when we were debating between which code

         15  book should be utilized and which code model should

         16  be followed.  I was part of the Council's

         17  subcommittee on the model code building, and I'm

         18  sure that ex- Council Member Provenzano would be

         19  happy that we're here today.  I'm hoping that she's

         20  aware of where we are with this particular point.

         21                 I just wanted to ask a few questions,

         22  and I wanted to highlight a couple of issues that

         23  Council Member Avella talked about also.

         24                 I'm confused about something you said

         25  about the enactment of this code and making the old
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          2  code obsolete and what would be the indicators to a

          3  project one way or the other.  When does it start?

          4  What levels are we talking about?  Are you talking

          5  about a commercial cut off separate from a

          6  residential cut off as far as when would the code be

          7  implemented?

          8                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  No, the cut

          9  off, if you will, is new versus existing buildings.

         10  So the new code will be able to be used the first of

         11  July, 2008, but must be used for new buildings after

         12  July of 2009.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.

         14                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Existing

         15  buildings await the new existing Building Code,

         16  which is not part of this legislation.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  So if a

         18  person goes and gets a permit now and it's a two-

         19  year permit, if you do it under that code, under

         20  those rules, then they would fall under the codes

         21  for when they began the permit, or would they fall

         22  under the codes for when they actually started the

         23  work?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Began the

         25  permit.  However, let me say this.  That one of the
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          2  things that we've heard from industry is that they

          3  want to use the new code before July of 2008.

          4  They're really clamoring to use it now, and that we

          5  have the ability to allow them to do that as part of

          6  the reconsideration process by the Deputy

          7  Commissioner for Technical Affairs, just in case

          8  someone asks you that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  So you're

         10  saying that a developer could use the aspects of the

         11  new code now if they have already been approved in

         12  code committee?

         13                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Yes.  You

         14  have to go through a special process, but it affects

         15  those large projects in your district that are

         16  multi- year projects.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, but I'm

         18  still concerned, and I would share Council Member

         19  Avella's concern about the two- year permit.  I also

         20  have a lot of projects, both large and small, in my

         21  district that have been sitting untouched for years.

         22  And to have a two- year permit I think would be

         23  problematic.

         24                 Is there a process now that the

         25  Department maintains an activity log of projects
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          2  within each community board that have not been

          3  worked on in months or years?

          4                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  No, what we

          5  do have up now, as you may know, is something called

          6  My Community that allows you to view each and every

          7  new building permit by community board so that you

          8  can track whether something's getting permitted and

          9  coming to your district immediately on our system on

         10  the web.  We don't have a methodology at all for

         11  determining if the project is being worked on

         12  currently.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  So it's still

         14  up to the community to report to the Department

         15  projects that have been sitting idle for a long

         16  time?

         17                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  That we'd

         18  very much appreciate.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  And once that

         20  reporting mechanism is done, then you would send out

         21  inspectors or check your Department's records to see

         22  if anything had been applied for within a reasonable

         23  period of time?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  And you would
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          2  get back to the individuals or the complainant as

          3  opposed to the details on whatever activity that

          4  was?

          5                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Well, if

          6  it's you, yes.  If it comes in through 311, then we

          7  have no mechanism for doing that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  All right.  I

          9  appreciate that.  I do have, as you know, some

         10  constituents that actually monitor and track the

         11  continuation and activity of particular projects,

         12  and they would want to be able to know what that

         13  process would be.  I think that within the

         14  development of the new code since everything is

         15  online, there may want to be an internal -- you

         16  could do the computer now, to check on idle activity

         17  on a particular site within a certain period of

         18  time.

         19                 Just to second Council Member

         20  Avella's point, I think that unless it's a major

         21  construction over a large commercial site, I'm very

         22  concerned about two- year permits, especially on

         23  smaller construction sites.  I'm also concerned that

         24  developers will, the ones that are not responsible,

         25  do a lot of permitting now so that they could do
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          2  what the least common denominator would be to do bad

          3  building.

          4                 While I'm encouraged by the things

          5  that you're trying to do to encourage utilizing the

          6  new code and utilizing future materials even, I'm

          7  very concerned about those folks that still want to

          8  be bad actors.  As you know, one of the things that

          9  our great Minority Leader is also looking at is a

         10  set of regulations to determine who could be a

         11  contractor, and I think that's an important stage

         12  that we need to attack as soon as possible also.

         13                 Just to change on a couple of other

         14  issues, the code committees, are they still intact,

         15  the code committees that met on the different

         16  aspects of the code?

         17                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Very much

         18  so.  In fact, I don't know if they really realize

         19  that, and I have part of my Dream Team sitting in

         20  the front row over there, the Chair of the

         21  Structural Committee, when we asked them to chair

         22  the committee four years ago, that it was going to

         23  be for the rest of their life. But given the fact

         24  that the code is on a three- year cycle, and that

         25  three- year cycle is fast coming up, it's this
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          2  September of 2009 is the next final code hearings,

          3  they will need to be ongoing.  The committees will

          4  need to be ongoing, so the level of effort will vary

          5  from year to year, and there may be changes in the

          6  chairmanships and the memberships, but the code

          7  committees will need to exist in perpetuity.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  And the

          9  training to get certain specialties, has that all

         10  been decided within the code to be a crane operator

         11  or to be an electrician specialist?  How has that

         12  been decided, when those certain training

         13  opportunities or ability to be certified as a

         14  specialist in what area, has all of that been done

         15  and checked out?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  We've

         17  carried that forward from the existing code.  That

         18  said, I think that what you're really talking about

         19  isn't in the code, either the existing code or the

         20  new code.  But the Department of Citywide

         21  Administrative Services licenses and tests 27

         22  different trades, classes of trades and it is this

         23  Administration's intention that that move from DCAS

         24  over to the Department of Buildings on an ongoing

         25  basis.  So the first one to come over is hoisting

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  machine operator, which we're working on now.  The

          3  requirements for that training and testing are being

          4  set up now, but they're not in the code.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  They're not

          6  in the code, but that will be --

          7                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  We're

          8  working on it though.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.  And

         10  there will be an opportunity to ensure that City

         11  residents have easy access to those trainings and

         12  notices for the training if somebody decides that

         13  they would like to be trained in those specialties,

         14  the Department of Buildings will let us know so that

         15  we can get information out to young people that may

         16  want to learn how to specialize in those?  Or find

         17  out what the courses are, where those courses would

         18  be held?

         19                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  We can sure

         20  do that.  Yes, I'm happy to report that in this

         21  class of crane operator training there are six women

         22  for the first time.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Great, well,

         24  I'm talking about that as far as making sure that

         25  the MWBE and the opportunity for City residents to
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          2  get that information first would be kept paramount

          3  and I hope that we can maintain that.

          4                 I just want to also congratulate you.

          5    I see that on page 8 when you're talking about

          6  construction safety you're talking about increasing

          7  or creating enhanced monitoring by requiring a site

          8  safety coordinator or manager for buildings between

          9  10 and 15 stories.  That's part of my original bill

         10  requiring construction safety managers on every job.

         11  I'm glad to see that that will be part of the

         12  overall City code.  I'm hoping that that part will

         13  be put in as quickly as possible.

         14                 A couple of other things I wanted to

         15  ask you.  Once the codes are set up and you have the

         16  ability to write violations, will that now be all

         17  computerized?  Or the ability to write violations

         18  against the new code and the ability of inspectors

         19  to go out or the public to review the code and to

         20  reference portions of the code, how will that work?

         21                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  The ability

         22  of inspectors to have handheld devices which

         23  automatically print receipts for inspection and have

         24  the code in them and are all technologically up to

         25  speed is part of our Be First program, which is
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          2  expected to roll out next Spring.  We're going to do

          3  electrical first and then different divisions as

          4  they go through to the point at the end of Be First,

          5  in another about year and a half, all the inspectors

          6  will have all the technology they need to do their

          7  jobs in an efficient manner.  That is not part of

          8  the code.  It's part of the Be First project.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Be First

         10  project.

         11                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  It's

         12  happening.  It's not in the code.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  But it will

         14  incorporate the code once it's available and put in

         15  place?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  But you're

         18  actually going to start it with the old code since

         19  your project will be starting before the new code is

         20  enacted?

         21                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  I think

         22  we'll have to put both codes in actually.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  So you're

         24  going to also be doing additional training for the

         25  inspectors to be able to figure out what code to use
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          2  in a particular situation?

          3                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Yes, that's

          4  correct.  We have a massive training effort that has

          5  to take place with both our staff and the general

          6  public.  We held the first sort of symposium with

          7  the New York Society of Architects at Surrogate's

          8  Court two weeks ago to which 400 people came, and

          9  310 people were admitted, it was so popular.

         10  Obviously, there's a real big market out there for

         11  knowledge about the new codes, and we look forward

         12  to working with architects and engineers and others

         13  to get up to speed on what's in them.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  All right,

         15  and you'll be noticing people about those other

         16  opportunities to come and find out?

         17                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Yes, I think

         18  we'll have to do something for the District Councils

         19  and for the Community Boards and for elected

         20  officials.  We have a presentation prepared that's

         21  an overview and BJ has been giving it fast and

         22  furious to all who would listen, so we're ready at

         23  any time you want to hear about it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Do you have

         25  these proposed codes on your website now?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  So someone

          4  could take the time and go through them at their

          5  opportunities?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  We consider

          7  it bedtime reading, but I would also mention humbly

          8  that the code is expected to be a best seller.  It's

          9  not Number One at City store, but it's Number Two to

         10  the Saffron Green book.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, that's

         12  because the City is expanding exponentially, as you

         13  know.  How much does it cost, does anybody know how

         14  much it costs?

         15                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  The price

         16  hasn't been established yet.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Oh, okay,

         18  great.

         19                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  And we have

         20  the ICC sitting in the room, so we're not going to

         21  go there.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  We're not

         23  going to go there, all right.  I saw them sitting

         24  here.

         25                 I also want to congratulate you for
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          2  increasing the violations.  I still think $25,000 is

          3  too low though and $10,000 for major violations.

          4  The people that are doing illegal work in this City

          5  still try to take these as a slap on their wrists,

          6  and I would propose moving them even higher than

          7  they are at this particular time.

          8                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  May I just

          9  add stop work orders, thanks to the Council, we now

         10  have the ability for the first penalty is $5,000,

         11  second penalty is $10,000 and third penalty is

         12  $15,000.  It doesn't sound like much, but we have

         13  the ability to go back day after day, so it's

         14  possible within a three day period to have $30,000

         15  worth of fines.  It's great.  Thanks for your

         16  support.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Thank you.

         18  On the last question, Mr. Chairman, thank you for

         19  your indulgence, the affordable housing prototype

         20  that you talked about on page 14 where you're

         21  talking about the four- story one stair designated

         22  building, do you have a design model on that that we

         23  could take a look at for a four- story building?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Absolutely,

         25  yes we do.  In fact, I guess this would be an
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          2  opportunity to thank the architects in the AIA for

          3  the five years before we started the code that they

          4  worked on the affordable housing prototype, and we

          5  think it's going to be applicable, Commissioner

          6  Donovan mentioned it in his testimony, to thousands

          7  of sites around the City in a way that will make

          8  them buildable where they weren't buildable before.

          9                 So we have a drawing that we worked

         10  off for the cost estimates for the new code, and

         11  we'd be happy to share that with you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Yes, I'd like

         13  to see it.  As you know, the downtown Jamaica

         14  rezoning and St. Albany's rezoning are actually in

         15  both at City Planning right now, and I need to learn

         16  about both of those.  I'd like to see that on

         17  prototype because the issue of density and height is

         18  a large one, especially along my commercial

         19  corridor.  So I'd like to see whatever prototypes

         20  you have for four- story properties that could be

         21  made affordable.  When you're talking about

         22  affordable you're talking about building it

         23  affordable at prevailing wage prices, or are you

         24  talking about affordability without prevailing wage?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  No.  The
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          2  City uses prevailing wage.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.  That's

          4  good to know also.  I want to thank, Mr. Chair, and

          5  thank you, Commissioner, for all the information.  I

          6  just want to remind you again I'm not crazy about

          7  the two- year permits, and that would have to be

          8  severely limited and the opportunity for MWBE and to

          9  train other young people in the City to be either

         10  building inspectors or experts in parts of this code

         11  is actually unlimited now, and I hope we take every

         12  opportunity to increase that.  Thank you.

         13                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you,

         15  Council Member Comrie.  Council Member Oddo?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.  Let me just say on behalf of all the

         18  Soprano fans in the audience that if this screen

         19  suddenly fades to black, there's going to be a riot

         20  in this joint.

         21                 Thirty seconds of bloviating and then

         22  a few specific questions.  Just in reference to

         23  Council Member Avella's line of questioning.  I

         24  think the challenges faced by this agency will be

         25  addressed or are being addressed in part by the new
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          2  code, but also need to be addressed operationally

          3  and legislatively.  Without giving away too much

          4  information, we're coming to hear stuff in the

          5  coming days and weeks about operational

          6  improvements.  Certainly, legislatively on the very

          7  point that Council Member Avella raised about the

          8  alterations, which is an excellent point, Council

          9  Member Brewer has a bill that is being negotiated

         10  between the Council and DOB to address the

         11  definition of alterations.

         12                 So I think the general point that I

         13  think we need to get to the public is that this new

         14  code doesn't cure everything, but it certainly

         15  addresses several of the outstanding issues that

         16  we've been talking about.  I just want to go over a

         17  few of the things because the things that we heard

         18  in the going around the City in the last year were

         19  the level of the fines, were the talk about stop

         20  work orders, professional certification.

         21                 So just in your testimony, if there

         22  are few things we could just go over quickly.  What

         23  is the practical impact of having stop work orders

         24  classified now as immediately hazardous violations?

         25  What does that mean in terms of the whole violation
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          2  of a stop work order issue?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  By

          4  classifying violations of stop work orders that is

          5  immediately hazardous, what we've done is kick them

          6  up into the highest penalty scheme, which is $25,000

          7  per occurrence.  In addition, the codes provide

          8  authority for the Commissioner by rule to establish

          9  daily penalties for immediately hazardous.  So if

         10  the $25,000 on a given day or the next day is deemed

         11  the cost of doing business, the daily penalties

         12  should address that problem.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  And there's no

         14  cap on the daily penalties, right?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  No.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  That could just

         17   --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  No.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay, great.

         20  On page 10 when you say that now the Commissioner

         21  has the power to adopt standards for participation

         22  in the professional certification program, can you

         23  just elaborate on that because that obviously is

         24  probably the issue we as Council Members hear most

         25  about related to the Buildings Department, that is.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Yes, as you

          3  know, we hear about it too.  The new code will give

          4  us the ability to require that any architect or

          5  engineer who is going to be given the privilege of

          6  professionally certifying an application must be pre

          7  qualified by our Department.  So in other words,

          8  we're turning up ending, if you will, the whole

          9  program to where it's not a right, it's a privilege.

         10    So we let the good guys in with some

         11  qualifications that will have yet to be determined.

         12  Once they're in, they can only stay in if they

         13  continue to be good guys.  And we don't let the bad

         14  guys in the program at all, so it should change the

         15  very nature of professional certification.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  You touched on

         17  my follow up question, which is what would be those

         18  qualifications.  Obviously, you haven't delineated

         19  them yet, but have you given thought?  What are the

         20  parameters?

         21                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  We're

         22  talking about some sort of combination of experience

         23  and certification.  In other words, you'd want to be

         24  licensed by the governing body, et cetera, architect

         25  or engineer.  I think as importantly as what those
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          2  qualifications are is that the notion of three

          3  strikes you're out.

          4  So if you are an architect and you are in our

          5  program and you defy the zoning resolution, once you

          6  get some penalty of suspension of privileges

          7  perhaps, but if you continue to violate the zoning

          8  resolution, then you can't come in the program

          9  anymore.  This gives us the ability to do that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I think that's

         11  huge, and that avoids the whole process of going

         12  upstate and the State Department of Education and

         13  all that because the numbers just over the last 10

         14  years of professional certification really are

         15  disappointing.  I have to think there are more

         16  people violating and more people who should be held

         17  accountable, and if we can streamline that process,

         18  that's great, and actually make people understand

         19  that there's a carrot and there's a stick, and if

         20  they continue to abuse professional certification,

         21  they're not going to be able to do it. So that's

         22  great.

         23                 On page 5, you have to explain to

         24  this me.  I don't understand exactly what is meant

         25  with respect to one and two- family dwellings.  You
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          2  testified that the proposed legislation does not

          3  contain a residential code, but that the ICC

          4  residential code does cover one and two family

          5  dwellings but the building code covers all new

          6  buildings.  After reviewing the work product of the

          7  technical committees that develop the text, the

          8  Department concluded that the City could effectively

          9  address one and two- family dwellings in the body of

         10  the Building Code itself.  I'm not sure I'm

         11  following that. What does that mean?

         12                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  You know, I

         13  don't know why the ICC has a separate residential

         14  code, but we thought it was better than having two

         15  codes, one for single family homes and one for the

         16  rest of construction, to put the single family homes

         17  into the building code itself.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.

         19                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  So we will

         20  never adopt the residential code because we don't

         21  need to because we put one and two's into the body

         22  of the Building Code.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.  There's

         24  just one other specific point, and that is John

         25  Mellencamp wrote a song in the 1980's called
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          2  Crumbling Down, and it probably could be the Borough

          3  Anthem on Staten Island these days with seemingly

          4  once a month some wall crumbling down.  So on page

          5  12 it says the codes codify maintenance requirements

          6  for retaining walls.  Could you give us some more

          7  specifics on the retaining wall issue?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  What

          9  we've done so far in the codes is specify who's got

         10  responsibility for maintaining retaining walls,

         11  depending on where they're located.  The real rub,

         12  if you will, on a retaining wall comes from, for us

         13  at least, comes from those that straddle private

         14  property lines.  So when a retaining wall straddles

         15  a line, there's very often a dispute as to whose

         16  obligation it is to maintain it, or when it's one

         17  site but the other site is benefitting.  Very often

         18  there are private agreements between property owners

         19  that govern that.  The code provisions recognize

         20  that those agreements might govern, but in the

         21  absence of them specifies who is responsible for

         22  keeping the wall in good repair.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  That's all I

         24  have, Mr. Chairman.  I just want to thank everybody

         25  for their hard work and their hours put into this.
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          2  Thank you, Commissioner.

          3                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Thank you,

          4  we appreciate that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you,

          6  Council Member Oddo. I just have a couple of items

          7  that I would like to, I guess, beg your indulgence

          8  on at this time.  I guess it's been made known to

          9  your staff by me that I was somewhat concerned about

         10  the addition of sprinklers to one, two and three-

         11  family homes.  I guess, could you just state, are

         12  you going to propose to include in the code

         13  sprinklers on all one, twos and threes, or certain

         14  type of one, twos and threes and why?

         15                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Sure.  The

         16  code proposes to utilize sprinklers for three-

         17  family homes.  The code proposes to sprinkle two-

         18  family homes only when they are joined, and the code

         19  proposes to sprinkle one- family houses only when

         20  they're over three stories, which doesn't happen

         21  very often.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  So then about how

         23  many -- and this affects only new construction?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Only new

         25  construction.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  So about what

          3  percentage or how many units do you figure going

          4  forward would have to be constructed with this

          5  requirement?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  25 percent

          7  of one and two family homes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, and then on

          9  the two's you said it's only when they're attached,

         10  did I understand that correctly?  The two's when

         11  they're attached and the one families when they're

         12  over three stories, is that accurate?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER JONES:

         14  Benjamin Jones here. It's two- families, attached

         15  and also over three stories and one families that

         16  are over three stories.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  But the average

         18  one story is about how many feet, just for my

         19  knowledge?  Is it about 20 feet?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AMER:  The

         21  average story is about 9 to 10 feet.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  9 to 10 feet.

         23  All right, so this would be considered just in

         24  general a luxurious one- family home if it reaches

         25  to that size, is that correct?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  That's

          3  correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  What do you

          5  figure is the average cost on including the

          6  sprinklers to these units?

          7                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  It's about

          8  $7,000.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  $7,000.  Now, on

         10  the two- family attached, I guess on the luxurious

         11  one- family home I would certainly say that they can

         12  afford it, and I probably shouldn't have a concern

         13  about that cost affecting affordability because

         14  that's obviously a luxurious home.  But on the two-

         15  family attached, how would that cost affect

         16  affordability?  Essentially, they would have to add

         17  about $12,000 to $13,000 to build it on those two

         18  homes.  What do you think is the impact on

         19  affordability?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Well, don't

         21  forget, it's only two- family over three stories.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  But you said

         23  attached on the two- families.

         24                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  It's not the

         25  whole universe of two- family.

                                                            82

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  All right, but

          3  you said two family attached, is that accurate?  But

          4  does it have to be attached and over 30 stories, or

          5  does it just have to be over 30 stories? I'm a

          6  little confused on the two's.  The one's I'm clear.

          7                 MR. JONES:  It's two- families

          8  attached across the board and then for those that

          9  are not attached, it's only those over three

         10  stories.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, so on the

         12  one's and two's you stated it's about 25 percent.

         13  Do you have an estimate of about how many units will

         14  annually be affected?

         15                 MR. JONES:  Based on the data that

         16  we've crunched, it's about 750 one and two- family

         17  homes that would be affected on average a year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, and is that

         19  based on the number of applications filed in the

         20  past?

         21                 MR. JONES:  It's based on the average

         22  of one and two- family homes signed off over the

         23  past five years, I think.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Do we have the

         25  total number on the one's, two's and three's of the
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          2  number of total applications filed over the past

          3  five years?

          4                 MR. JONES:  On average, it's about

          5  750 one and two family homes signed off per year and

          6  for one and two- family homes it's about 3,000 in

          7  total.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, thanks.  I

          9  just want to move on now to some of the penalty

         10  provisions.  You stated somewhere in the code, or at

         11  least during one of my briefings that before a new C

         12  of O was issued, the Department would like to make

         13  sure that all outstanding DOB penalties were

         14  collected before new C of O's were issued.  Does

         15  this apply only to DOB?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Only to DOB, no

         18  other City agency, is that correct?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  Yes, and

         20  only to the property in question.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Could you repeat

         22  the last part?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  Only to

         24  the property in question.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Only to the
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          2  property in question.  Okay, great.  Now, I want to

          3  touch on another concern. It relates to another

          4  issue that I had as it relates to outdoor signs.  I

          5  guess we'll start generally, in terms of the current

          6  code and the proposed code, what's changed in the

          7  way I guess you manage the outdoor signs?

          8                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Nothing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Nothing at all.

         10  Okay, so I guess how many full- time DOB inspectors

         11  do you have currently that enforce the building code

         12  and specifically outdoor signs if you have it?  Just

         13  Building Code in general and then outdoor signs if

         14  you have that.

         15                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  We have 350

         16  inspectors in all, and outdoor signs are done by our

         17  Spit unit, which consists of I think it's 12 at the

         18  moment.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, and in

         20  terms of the City's enforcement of signs deemed to

         21  be illegal, can you tell the Committee the break

         22  down of enforcement against advertising signs versus

         23  the enforcement against commercial signs that are

         24  deemed to be displayed illegally?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  We'd have to
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          2  get back to you with that information.  I don't have

          3  it at my finger tips.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, if you

          5  could before the next scheduled hearing, I'd

          6  appreciate that.  We've been joined by Council

          7  Member Dennis Gallagher, and I just have a few more

          8  questions in relation to the outdoor signs and then

          9  I believe we'll be done.  I guess in terms of the

         10  authority of the Commissioner in regards to setting

         11  the fines and the general adjudication process, what

         12  do you feel the Council's role will be in this

         13  process or would the authority lay solely with the

         14  DOB?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  I'm the

         16  last to suggest the Council wouldn't have a role

         17  here.  Of course, one of the beauties of the scheme

         18  we've established is that there's room for both of

         19  us to play in this area.  So to the extent the

         20  Council wants to prescribe a classification, or a

         21  particular kind of penalty for a certain infraction,

         22  as it has in the area of outdoor advertising in the

         23  past, it will certainly continue to be able to do

         24  so.  But what we've done, the innovation in the

         25  scheme is that to the extent the Council doesn't
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          2  speak to an issue, that the Commissioner will have

          3  the authority to step in by rule and do so.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Great, excellent.

          5    So now that leads me into some general questions

          6  on rule making.  What changes, if any, have made to

          7  the Commissioner's rule making power in the new code

          8  as opposed to the old code?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD:  None.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  Then that

         11  takes away my second question and that may get you

         12  off the hook unless Council Member Gallagher, who

         13  has joined us has anything he'd like to add. Council

         14  Member Gallagher states that he's okay, so at this

         15  point, well, I guess my counsel has a question that

         16  would like to be brought up.

         17                 Okay, and it goes back to

         18  accessibility.  DOB stated that all buildings will

         19  be accessible, and I don't think all buildings will

         20  be wheelchair accessible.  I want to particularly

         21  cite the residential group R1 that they don't have

         22  to be handicapped accessible, and if it's occupied

         23  by the property owner. Do you care to comment to

         24  that?  If you don't have it, if you could just maybe

         25  get us an explanation before the 20th, it would be
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          2  great.

          3                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  We'll get an

          4  explanation for you by the 20th.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  It's Section

          6  1103.2.11.  The Building Code.

          7                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Just give me

          8  the section once more.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  1103.2.11.

         10                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  If we could have

         12  that before the 20th also.

         13                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Sure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  If not, I'd like

         15  to thank you for coming.  I know that you've been

         16  working on this for a very, very long time, and I

         17  know that you're looking forward to the

         18  implementation of the Building Code.  Again, I'd

         19  like to thank you for your hard work on behalf of

         20  the people of the City of New York on this issue.

         21  At this point, I'd like to turn this hearing over to

         22  the public so we can get their input on what you're

         23  proposing, and I'm pretty sure that some of your

         24  staff is going to stick around to hear what they

         25  have to say.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.  What

          4  I'm going to do is for the general public I'm going

          5  to start with a two- minute clock per person, and it

          6  will be a liberal two- minute clock, but I'm going

          7  to have deference to the next panel because I guess

          8  they are the third party experts on this issue, and

          9  I believe that they have a lot to add on this

         10  subject, so I'll allow the clock to remain off for

         11  this panel.

         12                 Consisting of this panel, and please

         13  forgive me if I say the name wrong, Mr. Ronald

         14  Piester.  He's here on behalf of the Department of

         15  State for the State of New York.  He'll be joined by

         16  Rick Weiland of ICC, Sara Yerkes of ICC, along with

         17  Dottie Harris.  Please come forward, and if you have

         18  any written testimony, please get it to the

         19  Sergeant- at- Arms.  We generally start ladies

         20  first, but I believe this is the first time I've had

         21  a representative from the new Department of State

         22  before my Committee, so I guess we'll let him start

         23  and then we can continue.

         24                 MR. PIESTER:  Good afternoon,

         25  Chairperson Dilan and Members of the Committee on
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          2  Housing and Buildings.  Thank you for this

          3  opportunity to speak in support of Intro 578 today.

          4  My name is Ronald Piester.  I am the Director of the

          5  Division of Code Enforcement and Administration at

          6  the New York State Department of State.  I also

          7  serve on the International Code Council Board of

          8  Directors.

          9                 The Department of State is

         10  responsible for the statewide administration of New

         11  York's Uniform Fire Prevention and Building Code and

         12  State Energy Conservation Construction Code.  Our

         13  Department oversees the enforcement practices of

         14  1,600 local governments throughout the state, serves

         15  as secretariat to the State Prevention and Building

         16  Code Council and provides training and technical

         17  support to New York's building, fire service, design

         18  and construction industry.

         19                 In 2003, we completed a comprehensive

         20  overhaul of the state's building fire prevention and

         21  energy codes adopting the 2,000 international codes

         22  to replace provisions that had been in effect since

         23  1984

         24                 More recently, we completed our

         25  latest code update, adopting the 2003 international
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          2  codes as the base provisions for our state codes.

          3  It anticipated that these new provisions will take

          4  effect later this year.  However, we have also begun

          5  to review the 2006 international codes and intend to

          6  maintain a code update cycle that is consistent with

          7  the three- year publication cycle of the

          8  international codes.

          9                 By implementing the new New York City

         10  construction codes, the building codes of the City

         11  and State of New York will achieve an unprecedented

         12  level of consistency.  However, that consistency

         13  reaches far beyond our borders.  States, cities and

         14  jurisdictions around the country have chosen the

         15  international codes to protect the safety of their

         16  citizens in the built environment.

         17                 One of the many benefits that the

         18  state has already seen in this regard is the ease by

         19  which design firms, construction companies and

         20  developers are able to use our code.  Today,

         21  national corporations no longer ask us why they have

         22  to design with a completely different code in New

         23  York than they do elsewhere in the country.

         24  Regardless of where they come from, designers,

         25  developers and contractors know where to go to find
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          2  provisions for means of egress, fire protection or

          3  structural design because we use the international

          4  codes.

          5                 I would like to offer a few

          6  observations about the New York City Model Code

          7  Program.  Since its inception, the Model Code

          8  Program has utilized an open, transparent and

          9  inclusive process.  At the same time, the program

         10  was the benefactor of countless hours of volunteer

         11  service provided by hundreds of experts who served

         12  on the technical committees and managing committee.

         13  The volunteers who participated in the process are

         14  truly the key to the code's success.  They are the

         15  eyes and ears of the City of New York.  The

         16  collective wisdom of the technical committees helped

         17  to create a code that strikes a delicate balance

         18  between the interests of public safety and economic

         19  development.

         20                 If the volunteers are the eyes and

         21  ears of the program, then the Department of

         22  Buildings is its heart and soul. Commissioner

         23  Lancaster and her staff took a project that few

         24  thought could ever succeed and created a code that

         25  will serve as the envy of cities around the country
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          2  for many years to come.  The Commissioner and her

          3  staff led by example, utilizing competence and

          4  professionalism as the guiding principles for all

          5  who participated in the process.  This approach

          6  helped to inspire all parties to look beyond their

          7  own personal interests and to consider the future of

          8  the City as they did their important work.  The

          9  result before you today speaks for itself.

         10                 In closing, I would like to commend

         11  the City Council, Mayor Bloomberg, Commissioner

         12  Lancaster, the Department of Buildings and all of

         13  the participants of the Model Code Program for their

         14  dedication to the safety and well being of New York

         15  and its citizens.  Chairman Dilan and Members of the

         16  Committee, I urge you to continue your leadership by

         17  passing Intro 578 to the full membership of the City

         18  Council for approval.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you, Mr.

         20  Piester, and welcome.  I understand Mr. Weiland,

         21  you're next to testify.

         22                 MR. WEILAND:  Thank you, Chairman

         23  Dilan.  Member of the City Council on Housing and

         24  Buildings for giving ICC the opportunity to visit

         25  with you today on behalf of Intro 578 which, as we

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  all know, would set forth administrative enforcement

          3  and technical provisions for the City's new

          4  building, fuel gas and mechanical codes.

          5                 My name is Rick Weiland, and I am the

          6  Chief Executive Officer for the International Code

          7  Council.  I also have with me today Sara Yerkes to

          8  my left here who is our Senior Vice President for

          9  Government Relations.  I have Dottie Harris here to

         10  my right, who is the Director of State and Local

         11  Government Relations and our New York City

         12  representative.  I also have Roland Hall here, who

         13  is the Regional Manager.  Where's Roland?  In the

         14  second row back there, for the eastern United

         15  States.  So you've got the full team here this

         16  morning, and it's an honor to be before you to have

         17  this opportunity to talk a little bit more about ICC

         18  and the journey that you've been on.

         19                 The International Code Council, if

         20  you don't know, is a non- profit membership

         21  association which is dedicated to building safety

         22  and fire prevention.  Today our codes are adopted in

         23  all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico

         24  and the U.S. Virgin Islands and in over 21,000

         25  jurisdictions who have the authority to adopt and
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          2  implement building construction codes.  We also have

          3  several federal agencies, including the Department

          4  of Defense, the Department of State, the General

          5  Services Administration, the National Parks Service,

          6  the U.S. Forest Service and the Federal Bureau of

          7  Prisons.  They all reference and use the

          8  International Building Code and additional

          9  international codes so that they can provide really

         10  state- of- the- art building and fire safety for the

         11  construction of their buildings for their employees

         12  and for the folks that visit their facilities.

         13                 The international codes are a

         14  comprehensive and fully coordinated family of codes,

         15  which allow for the use of new materials, products

         16  and systems that promote economic growth while

         17  improving life safety.

         18                 They are performance- based and

         19  encourage the use of new materials, products and

         20  systems that can help address issues we know that

         21  are important to New York City such as economic

         22  growth, energy efficiency, environment and housing

         23  preservation and affordability.

         24                 You've heard a lot this morning about

         25  the economic benefits from Patricia Lancaster.

                                                            95

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  These benefits of building to updated codes can

          3  include everything from improved safety, reduced

          4  maintenance cost, energy savings and lower insurance

          5  premiums.           Just recently, last year there

          6  was a study done by the National Institute of

          7  Building Science that really talked about how smart

          8  it is to build to updated construction codes.  For

          9  every dollar spent on building safer and stronger,

         10  the average reduction in losses due to everything

         11  from high wind events, hurricanes, floods, seismic

         12  events, earthquakes and other disasters, we save

         13  four dollars.  So for every one dollar we're

         14  spending on the front end on building better and

         15  smarter, we're savings $4 on the back end.

         16                 The Code Council Board of Directors,

         17  which Mr. Piester is one of 18, and I might add

         18  you're very well represented on our Board of

         19  Directors.  Ron just does an excellent job for the

         20  State of New York.  But the Board is well aware, as

         21  is our membership, and we've been closely following

         22  the progress the City has made in this historic

         23  overhaul of the building code here.  I can speak on

         24  behalf of our Board of our membership how impressed

         25  we've been, frankly, Chairman, by the transparency
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          2  of this adoption process, and under the leadership

          3  of Commissioner Lancaster, over 400 volunteers were

          4  engaged and invited to participate in 13 technical

          5  subcommittees who were there charged with examining

          6  each of the international codes for the purposes of

          7  making specific New York City modifications.

          8                 These members represent the City's

          9  leading experts, as we've heard from all affected

         10  constituencies, building, fire, design, labor, real

         11  estate, construction and community activists. Since

         12  new construction codes will have a positive effect

         13  on virtually every resident and business in the City

         14  of New York and in the outlying area, it is really

         15  refreshing from our perspective to witness such a

         16  democratic and really open and successful process.

         17                 The City of New York is already

         18  considered to be a leader in the international Code

         19  Council's code development process, and at our final

         20  action hearings last month in Rochester, staff from

         21  the Department of Buildings proposed a code change

         22  based upon Local Law 26, which will now incorporate

         23  the standard for the installation of the glow- in-

         24  the- dark path markings in the stairwells of most

         25  new high- rise buildings over 75 feet in height.
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          2                 The Code Council membership voted to

          3  approve this code change and therefore this

          4  provision now will be part of the next edition of

          5  the International Building Code scheduled to be

          6  published in 2009.

          7                 In keeping pace with this three- year

          8  adoption cycle, the City will consequently now adopt

          9  a code with one of the City's modifications already

         10  included in the body of the text.

         11                 Chairman Dilan, we look forward to

         12  even greater participation from the City in future

         13  code hearings, as well as appointments to all the

         14  various code committees and councils, so that the

         15  expertise that you have here in New York City can be

         16  shared with countries around the world and with

         17  other states and jurisdictions here in the United

         18  States.

         19                 This is really going to continue to

         20  exemplify, I think, for the City of New York its

         21  leadership role in the area of public safety,

         22  building construction and code enforcement, and

         23  we're really pleased to be a partner with the City

         24  of New York, and we look forward to continuing to

         25  serve your needs and thank you for your leadership
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          2  on this issue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I want to thank

          4  the ICC as well, particularly Sara and Dottie, who

          5  have met with me when I first became Chair of this

          6  Committee a year and a half ago and the ICC in

          7  general for providing me with the technical

          8  information that I needed on such a technical bill.

          9                 I just want to start off by asking, I

         10  guess Commissioner Lancaster stated she wasn't sure

         11  why the ICC dealt with the International Residential

         12  Code separately.  Maybe you could enlighten us, or

         13  explain to us why.  I would imagine that other

         14  jurisdictions have different needs than NYC?

         15                 MR. WEILAND:  Absolutely.  In more

         16  suburban areas, it's more of a one stop shop code.

         17  It has plumbing provisions included in it.  It's a

         18  code that's very much supported by the National

         19  Association of Home Builders, so it's more

         20  simplified and I guess that's the best way to

         21  describe why we have both an IRC and an IBC.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  How often does

         23  the ICC publish a new code?

         24                 MR. WEILAND:  Every three years we go

         25  through this process where a new code is published,
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          2  and we're involved in an 18 month code development

          3  cycle.  There's a supplemental process that comes

          4  out of that cycle.  We've just finished up our 18-

          5  month final action hearing in Rochester, but the

          6  codes are essentially published every three years.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  How are the

          8  technical determinations made and who participates

          9  in that process?

         10                 MR. WEILAND:  The code development

         11  cycle for the International Code Council is open.

         12  It's open to any interested party to participate.

         13  When code changes are recommended, there's a call

         14  for these changes.  They're published, and then we

         15  have these public hearings where anyone can

         16  participate in that hearing process.  At the end of

         17  the hearing, the final action, we have what we call

         18  a governmental consensus process, so that the real

         19  final vote is determined by governmental

         20  representatives, so our philosophy, if you will, is

         21  that when you have public servants at the table

         22  making the final decision, their only interest is

         23  the public interest.  There are no special

         24  interests.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Finally, I asked
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          2  the Commissioner to explain concerns that I had on

          3  sprinklers, and I understand that the Rochester

          4  meeting that sprinklers got voted down.  I

          5  understand the discussion may be similar but not

          6  exactly the same.  Could you just enlighten me on

          7  the reasons why it was voted down in Rochester?

          8                 MR. WEILAND:  I'm going to ask that

          9  Ron Piester, who was participating in that actual

         10  hearing comment on that.

         11                 MR. PIESTER:  Chairman, a proposal to

         12  mandate sprinklers in all one and two- family

         13  dwellings was presented to this particular co-

         14  development cycle over a year ago and was part of

         15  over 2,000 code change proposals that went through

         16  this last 18 month cycle.

         17                 The way that the ICC process works,

         18  the initial action that is taken on any proposal is

         19  taken by a committee comprised of varied interests

         20  with specific expertise in this particular case and

         21  the building construction of one and two- family

         22  dwellings.  That initial action by the committee was

         23  taken last fall in Orlando, Florida at the initial

         24  public hearings of the ICC. The committee voted to

         25  disapprove the code change proposal based upon
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          2  concerns over affordability for installation of

          3  sprinkler systems.  Other issues that were

          4  considered by the committee were the availability of

          5  water to charge systems in rural areas and other

          6  concerns that were raised by individuals that

          7  debated the proposal in Orlando.  The way that the

          8  ICC process works individuals are given full

          9  opportunity to speak in support or in opposition to

         10  the proposal, and only after full debate is

         11  completed will the committee take its action.  So

         12  the committee voted to disapprove that proposal.

         13                 Then, the way the process works, the

         14  proposal proceeded through a public comment period

         15  between the two hearings and the final action

         16  hearing that Mr. Weiland mentioned took place in

         17  Rochester approximately a month ago.  There was

         18  again debate on the proposal.  A proposal was

         19  presented to the floor asking for the committee

         20  decision to be overturned, and because of the

         21  logistics of the process, a two- thirds majority

         22  vote of the individuals, governmental consensus

         23  members present in Rochester had to vote to approve

         24  or approve with modifications.

         25                 The vote was not able to achieve a
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          2  two- thirds majority.  However, there were

          3  significant support for reconsideration of

          4  residential sprinklers in the IRC.  I believe that a

          5  proposal will be submitted for the next code

          6  development cycle.  This is a discussion that is

          7  going to continue at the level of the national code

          8  development process of the ICC.

          9                 So I guess my answer is that for now

         10  the proposal has been defeated, but it is a

         11  discussion that will continue.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.  I've

         13  been joined also, and I failed to acknowledge by my

         14  colleague from Brooklyn, Council Member Lou Fidler.

         15  At this time, I'd just want to ask if any of my

         16  colleagues have a question for this panel.  If not,

         17  I'd like to thank the ICC for coming, and Mr.

         18  Piester, did I say it right?  I keep saying it

         19  wrong.  I know I said it wrong the first time.

         20                 MR. PIESTER:  Piester, but it's

         21  rarely gotten right, so you're --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I like to try as

         23  best I can to get it right.  Thank you all for

         24  coming, and thank you for your technical expertise,

         25  and I'm sure that I may be calling once or twice
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          2  before our passage of this bill.  Thank you all.

          3                 Next I'd like to call up Anne Emerman

          4  from Disabled in Action.  I wasn't sure if she was

          5  here, but I see her in the back, Alexander Wood from

          6  the Disabilities Network of New York City, Mr. Roger

          7  Sanjek and Mr. Matt Shotkin.  I'm going to allow

          8  Anne to testify first, not only because she's the

          9  only woman, but she's former counsel to one of the

         10  committees that I served on here at the City

         11  Council.  If you have any testimony, please give it

         12  to the Sergeant- at- Arms, so they can make it

         13  available to the members of the Committee, if you

         14  have it, it's not a requirement.

         15                 MS. EMERMAN:  Thank you.  Good

         16  afternoon, Chair Dilan and Members of the Committee.

         17  My name is Anne Emerman.  I'm a member of Disabled

         18  in Action, Disability Network of New York City and a

         19  Board Member of the Gray Panthers Network of New

         20  York City. This is my fourth go around with code

         21  changes dating back to 1981 when the state adopted

         22  its first fire prevention and building code.

         23                 In this process, I urge the Committee

         24  and the Council to step back, take time to engage

         25  impartial experts, architects, and carefully analyze
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          2  the cost benefit of Intro 578. That is, analyze the

          3  cost benefit to your constituents, the families and

          4  communities in your district and not merely the

          5  bottom line of development and real estate

          6  interests.

          7                 We know the pressures are great, as

          8  are the tensions between opposing interests.  The

          9  Committee faces a daunting task. This Mayor we know

         10  is committed to massive development projects in all

         11  the boroughs.  He and his team, I am sure, will

         12  finalize approvals and contracts before they leave

         13  office.

         14                 Intro 578 covers new construction.

         15  That is, projects designed and created from the

         16  drawing board.  This code will shape the City's

         17  built environment for years to come.  But this bill

         18  particularly, and I address myself to the

         19  accessibility chapter, is riddled with exemptions,

         20  exceptions, ambiguities open to interpretation and

         21  loopholes broad enough to drive a code through.

         22                 Intro 578 accessibility requirements

         23  are baby steps forward and giant steps backward.  We

         24  owe a lot to Dennis Boyd and Anne Davis who

         25  participated in the process, and they have
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          2  documented the accessibility code floors in their

          3  24- paper presented to the Committee, and I have a

          4  copy, but I believe that the Committee has it.

          5                 Their presentation has broad support

          6  of the disability and aging communities, and they

          7  deserve our hearty appreciation.  The City's code

          8  process was designed to ensure a predictable

          9  outcome.  Committees were stacked with real estate

         10  interests, and it's hard to believe that DOB did a

         11  cost analysis on accessibility.

         12                 When I served at the state level, the

         13  cost of providing accessibility was one- quarter of

         14  one percent of a total cost of a project.  I guess

         15  back then, as now, the development real estate

         16  interests characteristically fought over inches and

         17  the bottom line.  Their interests, fortunately, did

         18  not prevail at that time during the Carey/Cuomo

         19  Administration and more recently with Koch/Dinkins

         20  Administration in the late 80's.

         21                 The codes as designed by the state

         22  and the City in the 1980's required that all

         23  buildings, residential, commercial, assembly,

         24  manufacturing, to have accessible exterior and

         25  interior routes, adaptable or useable spaces, and
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          2  accessible elements and signage for safe use by all

          3  persons with or without disabilities and exceptions

          4  and exemptions were limited.

          5                 The code drove the manufacturers to

          6  develop standardized equipment such as 32- inch wide

          7  doors, frames, utilities, and I remember the

          8  dishwashers that needed to go under a lowered

          9  kitchen counter.

         10                 A negative sea change blew in during

         11  the Giuliani and Pataki Administrations, which I

         12  feel tipped their hat to real estate interests.

         13  Oversight and accountability was undermined here in

         14  the City of New York by self- certification.  It

         15  streamlined the process but invited systemic abuses.

         16  The waiver process and the TPPN's, the Technical

         17  Policy Procedure Notices, designed to relieve

         18  hardships when renovations in existing buildings hit

         19  a structural obstacle, became routine and raised to

         20  the level of law.  This practice set the stage for

         21  the adoption of what I consider less stringent

         22  accessibility codes, not only in this state but also

         23  contained in Intro 578.

         24                 While we successfully fought Governor

         25  Pataki's Code Council recommendation to slash 100
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          2  percent accessible dwellings down to 10, that was

          3  done by Statewide Disability Organizations, and we

          4  prevailed, but we ended up with a code that is

          5  inferior.

          6                 We look for a better outcome at the

          7  city level.  So far the process had a predictable

          8  outcome.  Stakeholders representing the industry

          9  dominated the Accessibility Committee processed with

         10  secret decisions, required consensus.  When no

         11  decision was forthcoming, the issue went to a DOB

         12  committee.  I happened to sit in on two meetings and

         13  was astounded to witness individuals representing

         14  BOMA or REBNY, co- op or condo associations admit

         15  that as individuals they would like to vote with the

         16  advocates for accessibility, but they had their

         17  marching orders. As the process goes forward, we

         18  look to the City Council and the Committee to close

         19  the loopholes in Intro 578.  We also urge the

         20  Council to expand accessibility options for the one

         21  and two- family dwelling units, which are going up

         22  in all of the boroughs, which we called

         23  visitability, and I said that's where the

         24  development is in Far Rockaway, Rockaway, and Staten

         25  Island and even all the boroughs.  It provides for
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          2  basic accessibility features.  One entrance without

          3  steps, an accessible bath toilet room on the ground

          4  level and accessible routes throughout the dwelling

          5  units, negotiable by a walker or wheelchair user.

          6                 Intro 578 addresses new construction

          7  and should provide for the greatest possible level

          8  of accessibility, the far greater challenges ahead

          9  when the codes committee take up conversions,

         10  additions, alterations and repairs of existing

         11  buildings.  We look to the Council to uphold the

         12  interests of the broader populations.  Three years

         13  hence when the ICC, International Code Council, also

         14  an industry- driven entity, convenes, it will be too

         15  late.  Much of New York City will be built or well

         16  along in the pipeline.  We urge you to make these

         17  changes now.  Thank you.

         18                 MR. WOOD:  Good afternoon, Chairman

         19  Dilan and Committee Members.  I'm Alexander Wood.

         20  I'm the Director of the Disabilities Network of New

         21  York City.  Thank you for holding this hearing on

         22  this important initiative to replace New York City's

         23  outmoded building code.

         24                 For years, the disability community

         25  has objected to the lack of enforcement of Local Law
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          2  58 of 1987, which was once hailed as the strongest

          3  law in the country regarding accessibility

          4  requirements.  However, in New York City where

          5  architects have been self- certifying that their

          6  plans meet all local, state and federal laws, often

          7  access requirements have not been enforced.

          8                 All along, Department of Buildings

          9  inspectors and plan evaluators should have been

         10  ensuring that Local Law 58 was enforced.  At this

         11  time, we agree that adopting the proposed model

         12  building code presents an opportunity to affect the

         13  future of the built environment in New York City,

         14  but we recommend that the Council withhold approval

         15  pending further review.

         16                 This is a good opportunity because we

         17  can: (a) significantly impact things like safety

         18  requiring that there are accessible means of egress

         19  from buildings; (b) that there be workplace access

         20  guidelines established that would favorably impact

         21  employability and opportunity for workers with

         22  disabilities to join the workforce; and (c) that

         23  residential units have doorways wide enough,

         24  bathrooms large enough and/or configured

         25  appropriately so that wheelchair users can have
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          2  access and enjoy their use.

          3                 Once again, we recommend that Intro

          4  578 not pass the City Council pending further

          5  review.

          6                 We're happy to hear that the IBC as

          7  the proposed model code is to be reviewed every

          8  three years so that it will be more flexible and up

          9  to date, but we're concerned that the public has not

         10  had sufficient opportunity to review and make public

         11  comment on the proposed model code.  We recommend

         12  that the Department of Buildings be required to

         13  publicize and give the public opportunity to digest

         14  and comment on the proposed changes.

         15                 A few specific concerns regarding

         16  Chapter 11 on accessibility in the proposed model

         17  code are that there be full compliance with state

         18  and federal standards.  One alleged purpose in the

         19  drafting of the proposed code was to ensure a so-

         20  called safe haven in which compliance with the New

         21  York City version of the IBC would ensure compliance

         22  with state and federal mandates.

         23                 As to state law, there is an

         24  exception in the draft to the requirement of

         25  assistive listening devices in situations where
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          2  there are no audio amplification systems.  The

          3  citation for this is 1108.2.7.  This exception does

          4  not exist under New York State Public Law Section

          5  53.

          6                 Just two more things.  We recommend

          7  that the absence of a visitability provision in the

          8  building code, there should be a call for basic

          9  accessibility of ground floor units in smaller R3's

         10  and other residential units, and the lack of that is

         11  problematic.

         12                 New units of housing are being built

         13  that should be required to include basic

         14  accessibility with such features as accessible

         15  entrances and interior doorways, useable bathrooms

         16  and kitchen facilities on the ground floor and

         17  environmental controls and outlets within reach of

         18  people who use wheelchairs.  As the population ages

         19  in place and people with disabilities visit friends

         20  in small buildings, it is important that features be

         21  designed in order to facilitate the use and

         22  enjoyment of housing in ways that only enhance the

         23  use and enjoyment of all residents.

         24                 The third point I wanted to bring up

         25  is, and this is the last one, that one of the
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          2  exemptions that Anne mentioned is that service

          3  elevators are excluded from accessibility

          4  requirements.  The citation for that is 1109.6.

          5  This is a problem in many places with public

          6  accommodation and residences where passenger

          7  elevators, whether one or more, may be out of

          8  service at any given time.

          9                 Thank you very much for this

         10  opportunity to speak, and we look forward to working

         11  with you in the future.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you, Mr.

         13  Wood.

         14                 MR. SANJEK:  New York Gray Panthers.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  You need to just

         16  restate your name into the mic.

         17                 MR. SANJEK:  I'm Roger Sanjek of the

         18  New York Gray Panthers.  As we envision a larger,

         19  greener, more productive New York City in 2030, we

         20  have a chance to avoid costly errors and future

         21  fixes.  We can make our City family- friendly for

         22  its inhabitants, or we can botch the job and pay

         23  enormous social and economic costs later.  More New

         24  Yorkers will be living into their 80's and 90's.

         25  Not only will there be many more older people, but
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          2  families will be smaller with less children.  There

          3  will be fewer available adult children to help

          4  elderly parents, and the experience of caring for an

          5  older parent will be nearly universal for New

          6  Yorkers in their 50's, 60's or even 70's.

          7                 We Gray Panthers take an

          8  intergenerational view.  We believe aging in place

          9  for older New Yorkers benefits all of us of all

         10  ages, and we believe our government and elected

         11  leaders share that perspective.  We know that after

         12  age 75 the likelihood of disability increases, and

         13  the issues that confront younger disabled New

         14  Yorkers today become everyone's concerns, as

         15  advocate Edith Prentiss reminds us.

         16                 Arthritis, rheumatoid conditions,

         17  diabetes, obesity, stroke, hip fractures will be

         18  more prevalent in 80 plus and 90 plus populations.

         19  So will their impact on daily living.

         20                 Younger family members do not want to

         21  isolate and institutionalize their parents.  They

         22  want them to be able to remain in their homes.  We

         23  want to be able to visit and have their parents also

         24  visit them.  New York can adopt an aging in place

         25  philosophy in its new construction code.  That would
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          2  be family friendly, or it can ignore aging in place

          3  and the family ties and needs of the future.

          4                 Now is the time to ensure that all

          5  new construction, whether one family house or

          6  massive apartment complex, has the design features

          7  that allow us to stay in our homes and to use our

          8  bathrooms and kitchens, whatever our physical

          9  limitations. Accessibility and adaptability

         10  standards are no mystery.  They do add costs to new

         11  construction, but these costs are small, and they

         12  are minuscule compared to costs that are displaced

         13  onto families and to government.  The costs don't go

         14  away.  Someone will pay later, either individual

         15  families or government, which means all of us, in

         16  renovations, or transportation, relocation or health

         17  and home services or even building additional

         18  residential facilities later.  It's not rocket

         19  science.  A little cost now, bigger costs later.

         20                 Why all new construction?  The answer

         21  is visitability.  I understand this concept very

         22  well.  My 89- year- old mother, a native New Yorker

         23  had a stroke four years ago.  She uses a walker, and

         24  she uses a wheelchair when she leaves her assisted

         25  living residence.  Luckily, when she visits my
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          2  brother's house for Thanksgiving, Christmas or her

          3  birthday, it has a ramp, which he paid for, and the

          4  doorways and bathroom are wide enough for her to

          5  move in and out.  If not, she could not visit.  Why

          6  would we build any housing that is not visitable?

          7  New York City's peoples and communities deserve

          8  nothing less.  Thank you very much.

          9                 MR. SHOTKIN:  Good morning, Mr.

         10  Chairman, and like Anne, this is like my eighth go

         11  around with the City Council, various committees.

         12  I'll be basing my comments this afternoon on Local

         13  Law 11, Section 102 on page 17 and the Chairman is

         14  correct, if that screen goes to black, it will be an

         15  actual riot.  Also, on Intro 578 at the end of my

         16  testimony.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  If you could just

         18  state your name for the record and then you can

         19  continue.

         20                 MR. SHOTKIN:  Matt Shotkin.  Good

         21  morning.  My name is Matt Shotkin, and I'd like to

         22  talk to you today about the sprinkler systems in

         23  Local Law 11 of the Building Code and how harmful

         24  they really are.  First of all, there should be a

         25  provision as to the speed of the actual sprinklers
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          2  outside of a building so that it's not on full

          3  blast.  Secondly, there should be certain

          4  requirements as to the length of the actual hose.

          5  Thirdly, all closed shafts should have a total area

          6  not exceeding four feet.           Also, the

          7  disabled bathrooms have to be widened in the

          8  doorways and the toilet seats lowered.  According to

          9  page 17, Section 102, a parcel lot of land or an

         10  actual lot shouldn't be in an area that exceeds 25

         11  square feet by 100 square feet.  Some of the prior

         12  items should be included in the Mayor's Budget that

         13  will be out July 1 this year of '07.

         14                 Finally, there should be two vertical

         15  exits in a disabled building, no more, no less.

         16  Thank you for the opportunity to testify today.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you all.

         18  The next panel will consist of Sally Regenhard and

         19  now this one I'm not going to make out, Glenn

         20  Corbett.  Okay, Ms. Regenhard, you may begin.

         21                 MS. REGENHARD:  We're going to have

         22  Professor Corbett begin, if you don't mind.  He

         23  represents my organization, and I'd like to have him

         24  go first, thank you so much.

         25                 PROFESSOR CORBETT:  Chairman Dilan,
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          2  Members of the Committee on Housing and Buildings,

          3  my name is Glenn Corbett.  I'm an Associate

          4  Professor of Fire Science at John Jay College, New

          5  York City and also an advisor of Sally Regenhard

          6  Skyscraper Safety Campaign.

          7                 As member of one of the technical

          8  committees that reviewed and recommended changes to

          9  the new proposed code under discussion today, thank

         10  you for inviting me to testify concerning this

         11  critical set of regulations, and I'd be happy to

         12  answer any questions at the conclusion of my

         13  testimony.

         14                 The adoption of the model

         15  International Building Code would be a major step

         16  forward for New York City.  Its current outdated and

         17  antiquated building code is long overdue for

         18  replacement.  Adopting a model building code ensures

         19  that New York City will more closely mirror the rest

         20  of the nation as new safety regulations are

         21  developed.

         22                 In the wake of 9/11 the Department of

         23  Buildings was one of the first City agencies to deal

         24  with many of the safety issues that arose from the

         25  disaster.  They are to be congratulated for creating
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          2  a World Trade Center taskforce soon after the

          3  disaster recognizing the need for a new building

          4  code.

          5                 I've been involved with the creation

          6  and enforcement of several codes in my career, and

          7  can say that the Department of Buildings has made

          8  this code adoption of top priority.  They were very

          9  thorough and inclusive in preparing the code.

         10                 Despite the fact that I recommend the

         11  new code for quick implementation, I must highlight

         12  some concerns that I have that diminish the new

         13  code.  Specifically, I'm concerned about the

         14  exemption of high- rise residential buildings from

         15  some of the safety regulations.

         16                 For example, certain high- rise

         17  residential buildings will not have to install

         18  emergency power systems, will be allowed to omit

         19  stairwell pressurization systems to keep out smoke,

         20  will be permitted to have narrow 36- inch wide

         21  staircases, will be allowed to have what are called

         22  scissor stairs, which are basically staircases that

         23  are contained within a single stair shaft.  And

         24  also, unbelievably, they would be exempt from a two-

         25  way fire fighter communication system given what
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          2  happened on 9/11.

          3                 In addition, I'm also concerned about

          4  another set of residential buildings of so- called

          5  affordable housing provisions that have been

          6  included in the new code.  I'm concerned that the

          7  new proposed code requirements for the typical four-

          8  story walk up that have eliminated one of two exit

          9  stairwells is a dangerous proposition.  Too much

         10  reliance is being placed on a life safety fire

         11  sprinkler system, which will be installed.  This

         12  affordable partial sprinkler system eliminates

         13  sprinkler heads in certain locations where fires can

         14  start.  A single stairway only allows one way out in

         15  a fire other than jumping out the rear window.

         16                 I am also concerned about New York

         17  City's even more antiquated and dangerous fire code.

         18    The fire code which maintains the safety

         19  provisions built into buildings under the new code

         20  that's being discussed today needs to be replaced

         21  quickly.  The International Building and Fire Codes

         22  are a matched set and need to be used together.

         23                 Finally, I'm deeply troubled that the

         24  City's new building code will not apply to the World

         25  Trade Center site, including the Freedom Tower, the
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          2  Memorial and the Subterranean Museum.  It is

          3  appalling that the site of America's largest

          4  disaster is totally exempt from the New York City

          5  building and fire codes that we're discussing today.

          6                 Despite my concerns, I again

          7  recommend a rapid adoption of the proposed building

          8  code.  Overall, the new code will greatly improve

          9  building safety afforded to New York City's

         10  residents and visitors.

         11                 As I said, I would be happy to answer

         12  any technical questions you may afterwards.  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Ms. Regenhard,

         15  are you going to provide testimony?

         16                 MS. REGENHARD:  I just really want to

         17  make a brief word that I certainly echo everything

         18  that Professor Corbett has spoken of in his

         19  presentation.  I also express support for the

         20  adoption of this code.  However, we have some grave

         21  concerns, and I certainly hope that they can be

         22  corrected in the next cycle, but I think they're

         23  worthy of discussion with Professor Corbett.  Thank

         24  you, Chairperson, for your concern about this code.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.  I
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          2  believe my colleague, Council Member Fidler has a

          3  question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, yes, I

          5  guess it is question.  It's a comment and a

          6  question.  I seem to recall, Ms. Regenhard, you were

          7  here discussing the code as it related to the Trade

          8  Center, and we had a discussion then about the fact

          9  that the code will not govern the Port Authority

         10  properties.  I see from Mr. Corbett's testimony

         11  today that that remains a concern today, and I do

         12  remember that we kind of ran the Port Authority

         13  people over the coals a little bit for their

         14  insistence that they could not, should not, would

         15  not even voluntarily adopt the same code that every

         16  other high- rise building in the City of New York

         17  has to abide by. Can either of you tell me whether

         18  or not there has been any further discussion with

         19  the Port Authority as to whether or not they would

         20  be willing to enter into a voluntary agreement? Do

         21  you know if the current Freedom Tower plans deviate

         22  from the requirements of this proposed code in any

         23  significant way?

         24                 MS. REGENHARD:  I'd like say, first

         25  of all, thank you for your awareness of this.  This
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          2  is a very critical matter. The Skyscraper Safety

          3  Campaign and our safety advocates really have been

          4  in discussions and calling out for the Port

          5  Authority to voluntarily put themselves under the

          6  legal jurisdiction of the New York City Department

          7  of Buildings and the New York City Fire Department.

          8  I'm very sorry to say that our pleas, our demands,

          9  have been ignored, and no.

         10                 As a matter of fact, regarding the

         11  codes of the Port Authority, we really have been

         12  requesting a copy of their codes for the last six

         13  years.  I don't believe that anyone has ever seen a

         14  copy of the codes of the Port Authority, and I doubt

         15  that anyone ever will.  The only person who really

         16  has control over the Port Authority the most right

         17  now is our governor, Elliot Spitzer, and certainly I

         18  would like to see the City Council, along with the

         19  Governor's Office really sit down and deal with the

         20  fact that no buildings in this City should be above

         21  the law.  The World Trade Center, which undoubtedly

         22  is the number one terrorist target when it's

         23  rebuilt, the museum, the memorial, will all be

         24  exempt and immune from the oversight and from the

         25  certification of the New York City Fire Department
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          2  and Department of Buildings, and that's a disgrace.

          3  I'd like Professor Corbett just to have a comment,

          4  if he will.

          5                 PROFESSOR CORBETT:  Just briefly, we

          6  haven't heard any updates or any changes in policy

          7  from the Port Authority.  I'm sure they will argue

          8  that they meet or exceed all local regulations, and

          9  our point always to them was that if that's the case

         10  then you should have no problem giving up your

         11  exemptions and allowing not only the City to review

         12  the plans for the new construction going on there,

         13  but allow for specifically and, most importantly,

         14  for routine inspections that should be done in these

         15  facilities before they're open and, of course, once

         16  they're open to the public.  Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Mr. Chairman,

         18  I'm very, very disturbed by what I just heard.  When

         19  we had this last hearing, there was a different

         20  governor, so I would ask you, Mr. Chairman, if we

         21  could send a letter to Governor Spitzer asking him

         22  for a little bit of help.  I think everything that

         23  the witness has just said is absolutely, positively,

         24  100 percent true.  They shouldn't be exempt from

         25  inspections.  They shouldn't be exempt from our
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          2  code, and if their code, in fact, meets all our

          3  standards, then they should cough up the code and

          4  let us look at it and make sure that we are not

          5  building a new target that is going to create

          6  dangers that are unnecessary.  I think Councilman

          7  Oddo said at one of our last hearings that the very

          8  definition of insanity is doing the same thing over

          9  and over again and expecting a different result.  I

         10  want to make sure that we're not doing something

         11  insane here.  This is the time, so I would ask if we

         12  could send that letter.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I would say to my

         14  colleague, I have no problem joining him in a letter

         15  to the Governor as it relates to the overall safety

         16  concerns at the Trade Center site. However, I just

         17  want to make very clear that the Bloomberg

         18  Administration, Patricia Lancaster, or this Council

         19  had no legal jurisdiction over what happens at this

         20  site and did not act irresponsibly in this code

         21  because we simply don't have the legal jurisdiction

         22  to include that, and I want to thank Ms. Regenhard

         23  for making that clear in her comments.

         24                 MS. REGENHARD:  Thank you very much.

         25  I concur with what you're saying, and that's the
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          2  problem, that we don't have jurisdiction.  We have a

          3  little city state right in the middle of our City,

          4  and for safety's sake, I'd like to see that

          5  changing, but thank you for your statements.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  It also excludes

          7  federal buildings.

          8                 MS. REGENHARD:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  That's another

         10  issue that we need to look at as well.

         11                 MS. REGENHARD:  You're right.  Thank

         12  you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Mr. Chairman,

         14  I understand the jurisdictional question completely,

         15  and I think the responsible thing for this Council

         16  to do would be to reach out to the Governor, and I

         17  will draft that letter and submit it to you because

         18  you are the Chairman of this Committee.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.  The

         20  next panel will consist of Commissioner Matthew

         21  Sappollin, Mr. Irwin Cantor and Ronny Livian.  I

         22  understand you are all members of the various

         23  building code subcommittees, is that correct?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAPPOLLIN:  Okay, I'm

         25  going to start off, Mr. Chairman.  Good afternoon,
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          2  Chairman Dilan and Members of the Committee, Members

          3  of the City Council, and our distinguished audience

          4  and my fellow panelists today.  My name is Matthew

          5  Sappollin.  I am the Commissioner of the New York

          6  City Mayor's Office for People with Disabilities.

          7  The Office was established in 1973 under Executive

          8  Order to ensure that the rights of people with

          9  disabilities were included in development of New

         10  York City programs and services and to serve as a

         11  liaison between the Mayoralty and the disabled

         12  community.

         13                 Our role in this process going back

         14  to the beginning of the development of the technical

         15  subcommittees was to serve as the Chair of the

         16  technical subcommittee responsible for reviewing and

         17  developing the new content for the accessibility

         18  provisions found in Chapter 11, which had been cited

         19  in previous testimony.

         20                 In doing so, we were charged with

         21  creating a cross section of stakeholders.  Our

         22  committee consists of somewhere around 25 members

         23  representing rather equitably all stakeholders who

         24  all had an opportunity to provide input and feedback

         25  to the process in an effort to build the consensus
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          2  you heard of.

          3                 We believe the outcome of that

          4  process was a thorough review of the ICC's

          5  International Building Code, a thorough review our

          6  Local Law 58, the New York State Building Code, and

          7  other relevant codes, which resulted in what we

          8  believe is a code that has preserved the better

          9  portions of Local Law 58, incorporated provisions

         10  from the International Building Code, which we hope

         11  will provide greater access, and ultimately provided

         12  clarity to the design professionals responsible for

         13  using the code.               Finally, we think that

         14  the beauty of the International Building Code, as

         15  you have heard in other testimony today, is that

         16  every three years there will be an opportunity for

         17  these technical committees, either in their current

         18  compositions or future compositions, to review again

         19  the developed code and to review the actual field

         20  practices that have occurred between those three

         21  year cycles, in an effort to again revisit, modify

         22  where necessary and appropriate, in an effort to

         23  create safety and accessibility to all New Yorkers.

         24  That concludes my testimony at this time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.  Push
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          2  the mic, and when the light is off, the mic is on.

          3  You can start all over and begin by restating your

          4  name.

          5                 MR. CANTOR:  Good afternoon, my name

          6  is Irwin Cantor.  I'm a licensed professional

          7  engineer specializing in structural design.

          8                 During the past 56 years, I have been

          9  the engineer of record for structures such as Trump

         10  Tower, Arthur Ashe Stadium, the Lipstick Building

         11  and the World Trade Center Building Number 7. I come

         12  to you today as the co- chair of the structural

         13  committee charged by Commissioner Lancaster with the

         14  responsibility of modernizing the structural

         15  sections of the New York City Building Code, and I

         16  come to you today as a member of the City Planning

         17  Commission over the past 13 years who is fully aware

         18  of the importance of logical change to our beloved

         19  city and our needs to further protect it against

         20  another Tuesday in September.

         21                 Others have addressed the monumental

         22  effort and dedication of the architectural and

         23  engineering profession in developing the new code.

         24  I need not do so.  I do wish, however, to emphasize

         25  that almost every individual working on this effort
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          2  was a principal in his or her company.  New York

          3  City received pro bono the applied wisdom of the

          4  very best of our professionals.

          5                 You may hear from some today or in

          6  the future who will testify that various code

          7  organizations, national committees, et cetera, are

          8  reviewing and developing proposed code changes, so

          9  why not wait until they are done.  Or others who may

         10  point to areas where they perceive of incomplete

         11  attention, so why should the code be approved today?

         12    Well, because this is New York City and almost six

         13  years after 9/11 we feel the need now and not at

         14  some unknown date in the future.

         15                 I can tell you from my travels

         16  throughout this country as well as abroad, that the

         17  sense of urgency and need does not exist elsewhere.

         18  It all happened far away, but as Los Angeles and San

         19  Francisco have accepted the responsibility to update

         20  their seismic codes, while others dallied, so should

         21  we now accept the responsibility with our code.

         22  Only we and Washington, D.C. have seen the flames,

         23  smelled the smoke and breathed the air of 9/11. We

         24  are ready to lead now.

         25                 The code has been modified to better
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          2  protect against disproportionate collapse.  The

          3  requirements for inspection of buildings under

          4  construction have been strengthened.  We have

          5  introduced for the very first time the requirement

          6  for peer review for major structures to further

          7  protect the public as we build our ever more complex

          8  and world acclaimed architectural masterpieces.

          9                 Finally, I cannot end without

         10  commenting upon the extraordinary efforts of

         11  Patricia Lancaster, who did not tell me when we took

         12  this assignment that it was in perpetuity.  Also,

         13  Fatma Amer and their staff.  I have never seen

         14  people work harder. Talk about dedicated public

         15  servants, and these two ladies immediately arise to

         16  the forefront.  Without them, we would not be here

         17  today.  The new New York City Building Code is a

         18  code whose time has come.  I respectfully urge that

         19  you approve it.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you, Mr.

         21  Cantor.

         22                 MS. LIVIAN:  Good afternoon, Chairman

         23  and the honorary members of the Council.  My name is

         24  Ronny Livian, and I'm the Chairman of the

         25  Construction Requirements Committee.
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          2                 Our Committee was in charge of

          3  Chapters 3, 4, 5, 6, 12 and 13 of the IBC, which

          4  includes use and occupancy classification, building

          5  area and height requirements and construction fire

          6  rating requirements, and also had special occupancy

          7  and high-rise building sections.

          8                 My committee consists of 25 members,

          9  and most of them are heads of architectural and

         10  engineering in major construction and development

         11  firms.  The Committee had seven working panels, each

         12  specializing in their own field.  Our committee met

         13  regularly, sometimes weekly or bi- weekly for over

         14  two years in order to upgrade all sections of the

         15  code.

         16                 The new construction code was an

         17  opportunity for us to bring the necessary upgrades

         18  and updates to the code that has not been

         19  substantially updated since 1968.  As the technology

         20  has developed, new construction materials and

         21  techniques and fire protection have been

         22  incorporated, but the 1968 code has not been updated

         23  to recognize the new technology.

         24                 We were able to bring the code up to

         25  date for safety and fire protection.  Some examples
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          2  include student dormitories, testing laboratories

          3  and some special occupancies like malls, atriums and

          4  department stores.  The codes were substantially

          5  modified to assure the safety and, in addition,

          6  easier to construct in New York City.

          7                 During our review, we were also able

          8  to bring the codes to be more consistent with the

          9  multiple dwelling laws, housing maintenance code and

         10  the zoning.  The new construction code, therefore,

         11  will be up to date and more consistent with all

         12  other laws that are in effect in New York City.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you, and I

         15  just want to just basically state that since you

         16  weren't aware in terms of the length of service that

         17  you would be given to each committee, I think it's

         18  appropriate of this committee to consider

         19  legislation that would grant each and every one of

         20  you stipends for your service, but I'm not sure if

         21  that bill would get any consideration, but I'd be

         22  glad to introduce it.

         23                 MR. CANTOR:  Mr. Chair, I have

         24  something that's more valuable to the profession

         25  than stipends, and that would be recognition by the
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          2  state of all those very, very hard working people

          3  and giving them continuing education units for their

          4  efforts.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I'd like to maybe

          6  discuss that with you sometime after the code is

          7  passed.

          8                 MR. CANTOR:  I'd be delighted.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  So we can work on

         10  that.  Thank you.

         11                 MR. CANTOR:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, the next

         13  panel will consist of Mr. Herb Mandel, Mr. Bernie

         14  Carr, Mr. Les Bluestone and Ismene, I can't

         15  pronounce your last name.  Please feel free to

         16  correct me on these names.  Ismene, in all the times

         17  we've met I've never gotten your last name.

         18  Speliotis, now I got it.  Since I botched your name,

         19  you can go first.

         20                 MS. SPELIOTIS:  Thank you, Councilmen

         21  and Chairperson.  I'm Ismene Speliotis, the

         22  Executive Director of New York Acorn Housing

         23  Company, and I'm here representing New York Acorn

         24  Housing Company as an affordable housing, developer,

         25  owner and manager of over 1,000 units of housing
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          2  throughout New York City.

          3                 I want to thank the Department of

          4  Buildings in particular for having set up these

          5  advisories.  We were members of the Advisory

          6  Committee.  The Advisory Committee that we were on

          7  brought together kind of professionals and

          8  architects in particular and then affordable housing

          9  developers in an effort to match the proposed

         10  changes in the Building Department with the reality

         11  of us as owners and developers out in neighborhoods.

         12                 I just want to thank everyone who was

         13  involved in that process and worked hard to come up

         14  with the proposed changes.

         15                 I'd like to say on behalf of New York

         16  Acorn Housing Company, we support the passage of the

         17  proposed changes to the Building Code.  I think the

         18  changes, there are two things I'd like to say to

         19  that.

         20                 One is, on the process that got us to

         21  feeling comfortable with supporting the

         22  recommendations.  Our committee and the work that we

         23  did and what we learned, I tried to address the

         24  issues and create a balance between safety,

         25  affordability.  And instead of each piece around
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          2  safety or building code or processing issues at the

          3  Building Department, it actually forced us to

          4  address all of those issues as they kind of impact

          5  and interface with each other to get to the end,

          6  which is actually construct buildings.

          7                 Then we had the particular additional

          8  overlay of affordability to this, both affordability

          9  during construction and then operating and managing

         10  these buildings later.

         11                 So I just want to say in closing that

         12  I have heard a lot of discussion on the sprinkler

         13  versus stair issue, et cetera, and we feel that we

         14  own buildings that are two stories and we own

         15  buildings that are seven stories.  We don't own any

         16  very high- rise, but we feel very strongly, that

         17  there was a real compromise where more sprinklers on

         18  the one hand, which adds a cost, but on the other

         19  hand there were compromises and accommodations

         20  around how the stairs were built and the scissor

         21  stairs and the number of exits, so it allowed for a

         22  kind of a reality, sprinklers versus egress, and a

         23  real balance and compromise.  That allowed us to

         24  come out in support of the proposed changes.  Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 MR. CARR:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chair

          3  and Council. My name is Bernie Carr, and with

          4  Ismene, I serve as the co- chair of the Affordable

          5  Housing Advisory Committee.  I'm also Executive

          6  Director of the New York State Association for

          7  Affordable Housing. Thank you for giving me the

          8  opportunity today to speak in favor of the Intro and

          9  comment on the impact the proposed changes to the

         10  Building Code will have on affordable housing.

         11                 We define affordable housing as

         12  housing that is built with federal, state or city

         13  subsidies and sold or rented to low and middle

         14  income New Yorkers at a manageable cost.  Since

         15  these subsidies come with strict limits on income

         16  and rent or sales price, increases in construction

         17  costs cannot simply be passed along to the renter or

         18  homeowner.  Instead, increased costs require more

         19  government subsidy per unit, which results in fewer

         20  affordable units.  But costs are never our primary

         21  concern, safety is.  We represent housing

         22  professionals who remain committed to their projects

         23  for decades, in some cases for generations.

         24                 The proposed code offers significant

         25  improvements in both safety and cost for affordable
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          2  housing development.  As you've heard from earlier

          3  speakers, it is the result of thousands of hours of

          4  work by experts from labor, industry and government.

          5    The special characteristics of affordable housing

          6  were an important part of those considerations.  If

          7  the Intro becomes law, developers will be able to

          8  use the latest in construction technologies while

          9  minimizing the amount of time and money that is lost

         10  in administrative tie ups and conflicts over the

         11  interpretation of sometimes contradictory provisions

         12  of the existing code.

         13                 I want to address one important

         14  provision of the proposed code, the four- story walk

         15  up prototype, which was specifically developed with

         16  affordability and safety in mind.

         17                 The present code encourages owners to

         18  rehabilitate existing buildings rather than building

         19  new, which often results in buildings that do not

         20  incorporate the latest thinking on safety or energy

         21  efficiency.  The prototype will encourage the

         22  development of new infill housing.  At the same

         23  time, it will maximize fire safety and physical

         24  security for its residents.

         25                 We urge you not to modify this

                                                            138

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  section of the code. In fact, we urge you to pass

          3  the entire proposal in its current form.  Given the

          4  extensive deliberations that have already got into

          5  the proposal, we don't think that any further

          6  changes are necessary or advisable today, and the

          7  provision that allows the code to be revised every

          8  three years will allow us to use our experiences

          9  going forward to make any modifications that become

         10  necessary.  To encourage the development of safe and

         11  affordable housing in New York City, we urge you to

         12  pass the Intro.

         13                 MR. BLUESTONE:  Thank you.  My name

         14  is Les Bluestone.  I am a member of the committee.

         15  I come here as a private affordable housing

         16  developer and as the Board Chair for Habitat for

         17  Humanity New York City and also would like to

         18  express our support for the code.  I could use the

         19  words ditto to Bernie's testimony to support it in

         20  its form and in state presently.

         21                 We all agree that the Building Code

         22  as it presently exists has been somewhat broken in

         23  helping us to produce affordable housing, and while

         24  we were constantly struggling with it, wrongfully

         25  assuming that sometimes the Building Department was
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          2  maybe the enemy, as it were, through this process I

          3  wanted to echo Irwin Cantor's comments that our

          4  experience with Fatma and Helen and through the

          5  whole process actually, we have come to learn that

          6  they are as much frustrated and struggling with this

          7  very interpretative piece of work as we are, and we

          8  are very, very optimistic about the new code being

          9  able to set very clear understandings and guidelines

         10  that everybody can work from without being subject

         11  to interpretation in gray areas.  Thank you very

         12  much for your time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you, Mr.

         14  Bluestone.

         15                 MR. MANDEL:  That leaves me.  I'm

         16  Herb Mandel, and I have had the privilege of

         17  chairing the Residential Committee of the Code

         18  Commission over these past years.  Our

         19  responsibility was to make recommendations and

         20  review any aspect of the code which related to

         21  residential buildings, a daunting task, and it was

         22  something which we did with a lot of vigor.  I want

         23  you to know that it's my privilege to speak to you

         24  today on behalf of that residential subcommittee.

         25                 The group was composed of some of the
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          2  most accomplished and well- informed individuals in

          3  the housing field, and it has worked for over two

          4  years, actually longer than that, to produce the

          5  residential components of the document which you

          6  have before you today.  Anyone who thinks that this

          7  is a quick draw doesn't have a handle on what has

          8  transpired because this has been going on for a long

          9  time, and there have been enormous amount of

         10  deliberation leading up to the final product here.

         11                 We sincerely believe that the product

         12  of our efforts will serve as a model for large

         13  cities across the country.  It incorporates the best

         14  of what we have been doing here for many years

         15  within the framework of an up- to- date and well

         16  organized code which will serve us well into the

         17  future.

         18                 If I may at this point I'd like to

         19  talk about one aspect of the code, which the

         20  Committee of the New York Chapter of the AIA has

         21  been working on for some time.  I'd hate to tell you

         22  how long, but there are people around here who

         23  remember that we testified before the Housing

         24  Committee on this same subject many years ago.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Was Ed Koch a
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          2  member of the Committee at that time?  Just kidding.

          3                 MR. MANDEL:  I think it was Fiorello

          4  LaGuardia was the Mayor.

          5                 That was the development of a low-

          6  rise housing prototype, which would be efficient in

          7  design, and therefore economical to build.  The

          8  objective of that effort is to adopt a series of

          9  code provisions which would legalize and therefore

         10  facilitate the realization of that housing type

         11  without the need for the reconsiderations which have

         12  permitted its construction for the past 20 years or

         13  so.

         14                 I have given you a cut or a series of

         15  cuts on a complex of low- rise buildings which

         16  practically replicate exactly what we're proposing

         17  to do.  If you'll look at the reconsideration, which

         18  was used to build those buildings, it was drawn in

         19  1985. Those are buildings, which were built by the

         20  New York City Housing Authority, and I think that

         21  they were testified to the effect that they had been

         22  occupied continuously since they were built without

         23  any serious incident or problems.  So we're not

         24  talking about something here that we don't know

         25  anything about.  There is precedent for it.
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          2                 Our city is in desperate need of

          3  affordable housing. Land is increasingly scarce.

          4  One option which is available is the use of infill

          5  sites for new housing.  The four- story walk up

          6  prototype would give us greater flexibility and

          7  replacement of older buildings, which are not

          8  rehabilitable.

          9                 We're not proposing to tear down all

         10  the old buildings.  We're saying that some of them

         11  should not be rehabilitated and should be replaced.

         12                 It will provide an economically

         13  feasible and attractive alternative to create new

         14  low rise housing, which is both safe and

         15  economically viable.  It would also be useful in

         16  limited height districts where greater density could

         17  be achieved and would be possible with the building

         18  types permitted by the existing codes.

         19                 We've worked with all the parties in

         20  interest to make the prototype an inherently safe

         21  structure.  By the way, the building that you're

         22  looking at was built before sprinklering

         23  requirements.  The only sprinklers provided in that

         24  building were a sprinkler head inside and outside of

         25  the apartment entrance door. Our prototype, of
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          2  course, would be fully sprinklered.

          3                 Non- combustible construction is

          4  proposed.  Each building will be limited to 2,500

          5  square feet and not more than three dwelling units

          6  on a floor and will be fully sprinklered.

          7                 Apartments will be accessible to fire

          8  fighters either directly from the street or via a

          9  street facing stair landing at each level.  This

         10  will require that the building stair be visible and

         11  accessible from the street and will result in the

         12  configuration which will permit surveillance of that

         13  enclosure by cruising police vehicles as well as

         14  pedestrians.  This is intended to discourage crime

         15  in a building area which has traditionally been

         16  prone to that problem.  If the stair does not face

         17  the street, a rooftop stair bulkhead would be

         18  required, thus allowing fire fighters access to the

         19  stair hall from that location.

         20                 The stair enclosure into which the

         21  apartment door is opened would be required to be

         22  two- hour fire rated, and sprinklers would be

         23  located on both apartment side and the stair hall

         24  side of the entrance door, and smoke removal

         25  ventilation would be provided.
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          2                 It's important to state that at no

          3  time in the deliberations leading to this proposal

          4  was safety ever compromised for the sake of design

          5  efficiency or cost.  There are living examples of

          6  buildings of this type, which have served safely and

          7  well over a long period.  That's the example that I

          8  have left with you today.

          9                 Extensive deliberations and

         10  discussions have led to the proposal that is finally

         11  submitted.  It should be adopted into law and begin

         12  to serve the needs of the City by encouraging new

         13  and better affordable housing to be built.

         14                 I'd just like to add one

         15  clarification on earlier testimony, and that is,

         16  that as presently drafted, the new code will require

         17  3- foot, 8- inch wide stairs in buildings taller

         18  than 125 feet, as it will require emergency

         19  generators in those buildings.  That was taken into

         20  consideration.  Tall, residential buildings were

         21  considered in the deliberations leading to the

         22  drafting of the code.  I would be happy to answer

         23  any questions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I just want to

         25  just briefly ask, the majority of you affordable

                                                            145

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  housing builders, and I believe I heard you all say

          3  that you're comfortable with the sprinkler

          4  provisions on one and two family homes?  I guess for

          5  Bernie or Ismene or Mr. Bluestone?

          6                 MR. CARR:  I would have to defer

          7  because in general our members are not building

          8  those buildings, so I don't really have kind of an

          9  official position on that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  That's also

         11  helpful.

         12                 MR. BLUESTONE:  Well, I would echo

         13  what Bernie said. The year of one and two- family

         14  affordable housing is over.  So being somewhat, I

         15  guess self- interested, it really does not apply to

         16  what the City has in mind through its housing

         17  programs.  Even Habitat for Humanity now is doing

         18  all multi- family buildings.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.

         20                 MR. MANDEL:  I would add on that

         21  subject that there was a tremendous amount of debate

         22  on the subject of sprinklering of one and two-

         23  family homes.  Nationally, it is not done.  There

         24  are maybe one or two places where it is done.

         25  Nationally, it has not been a requirement.  However,
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          2  this code does require that if these buildings, one

          3  and two- family buildings, are grouped into units of

          4  three or more, then that group of buildings will

          5  then require sprinklering of those units.  So this

          6  is a compromise here that has been reached.

          7                 MS. SPELIOTIS:   I want to go with

          8  Herb that we actually at Acorn Housing have a huge

          9  portfolio of two and three- family houses.  They're

         10  done and occupied.  They don't have sprinklers, and

         11  much like Les' testimony, we also, knock on wood,

         12  have not had issues with this.  I think, as Herb

         13  said, you're protected in the fact that if the

         14  buildings are clustered, then you're required to

         15  sprinkler, right Herb?

         16                 MR. MANDEL:  Yes.

         17                 MS. SPELIOTIS:  So when they're

         18  attached, even though they've got the fire rating

         19  between the buildings, they're actually going to

         20  have sprinklers in addition to that.  So I think

         21  there's been so much emphasis on the four- story

         22  prototype because two things.  One is you're kind of

         23  building more affordably, you're building a little

         24  bit more densely.  It allows you to then take in

         25  those additional safety precautions from the fire
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          2  perspective.  But we as owners of those particular

          3  types of buildings are comfortable that kind of the

          4  free standing one's and two's aren't sprinklered.

          5  We're very, very comfortable with that provision.

          6                 MR. CARR:  If I could just add

          7  quickly, Les' point that the day of the one and two-

          8  family affordable projects are over, we really

          9  focused a lot on mid- rise.  One thing that's really

         10  changed over the last few years is there's more and

         11  more mid- rise affordable housing development, and

         12  the fact that the code takes that into effect and

         13  doesn't treat say a nine- story building the same as

         14  a 40- story building is, I think, one of the places

         15  where it's really going to assist us safely but

         16  economically.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, I just

         18  wanted to thank you.  The more background

         19  information I had on it personally would just help

         20  these proceedings along significantly.  I want to

         21  thank you all for your time and appreciate you

         22  coming out to testify today.

         23                 I'm going to call the next panel, and

         24  I understand they may not want to testify, and if

         25  they don't, that's fine.  Mr. Evan Lipstein and Mr.
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          2  Levi Eichenstein.  Don't want to testify?

          3                 Okay, so then the next panel, you're

          4  up.  Let's see, we're going to add someone along to

          5  the panel with you.  This looks like Holly Fuchs

          6  Ferguson, a member of CB8.  Is she still here?  So

          7  then what we'll do is we'll add the members of the

          8  Four Borough Preservation Alliance along to this

          9  panel, Mr. Robert Furman, Linda Eskenas and Daniel

         10  McCalla.

         11                 We'll begin with Mr. Lipstein, and

         12  then the Four Borough Preservation Alliance.  The

         13  Sergeant- at- Arms will come along and grab that

         14  from you.

         15                 MR. LIPSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Dilan.

         16  I'm Evan Lipstein.  I'm a private citizen.  I'm

         17  involved with local law compliance with different

         18  safety initiatives that are governed by local laws

         19  here in New York City pertaining to safety in high-

         20  rise commercial buildings.

         21                 My comment relates to a building

         22  safety issue, which may come under the purview of

         23  the Fire Department rather than the Department of

         24  Buildings, but sometimes these agencies have joint

         25  jurisdiction.
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          2                 At this time, all Class E commercial

          3  high- rise buildings in New York over a certain

          4  height, six stories or 75 feet, require a fire

          5  safety plan and also an emergency action plan. My

          6  comment is that the proposal of 578 should require

          7  that all buildings in New York City over a specific

          8  height can be classified as high- rise be required

          9  to file a fire safety plan and emergency action plan

         10  to improve safety and prepare the building occupants

         11  for emergencies or intentional or unintentional

         12  emergency occurrences.

         13                 Having these plans in place saves

         14  lives and the buildings should be required to

         15  conduct periodic drills and have training of

         16  building staff.

         17                 My next comment relates to people

         18  with disabilities, or I like to refer to physical

         19  limitations.  I believe the City should create a

         20  rule related to evacuation chairs for people with

         21  physical limitations.  High- rise buildings have an

         22  obligation to protect the lives of people with

         23  physical limitations in the event of an emergency

         24  requiring an emergency evacuation.  In the 9/11

         25  occurrence, many people with disabilities were left
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          2  to fend for themselves and a number of them of

          3  perished as a result.

          4                 My final comment is that I've seen

          5  this myself when the City passes these Local Law

          6  requirements, that typically not enough is done to

          7  enforce these Local Law requirements.  They put very

          8  little teeth into the enforcement.  They create

          9  laws, but they're not stringent upon violations and

         10  getting the violations out in a timely manner for

         11  the people that disobey.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.  Mr.

         13  Furman?

         14                 MR. FURMAN:  Mr. Chairman, I'm glad

         15  you're still here, so there's someone here to listen

         16  to us.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I'm required to

         18  be.

         19                 MR. FURMAN:  Everyone else left

         20  except the staff and you.

         21                 My name is Robert Furman.  I am

         22  Chairman of the Four Borough Neighborhood

         23  Preservation Alliance Corporation.  There are many

         24  good things in Intro 578.  We, however, are

         25  concerned about what appears to us to be a serious
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          2  weakness in our protection in the name of cost in

          3  construction.  We feel this presents a clear and

          4  present danger to the public safety, but has mostly

          5  escaped close examination because of the bill's

          6  length and complexity.

          7                 Unfortunately, what this bill does is

          8  remove many of the fire protections built into the

          9  current City building codes such as requiring second

         10  exits from buildings and requiring fireproof walls

         11  between them.  The Mayor's reasons for introducing

         12  the bill is stated to be to reduce housing

         13  construction costs to make it easier for the private

         14  sector to build affordable housing, a dubious

         15  proposition at best.

         16                 What is clear is that building

         17  attached wooden, multi- story, multiple dwellings

         18  without sprinklers or fire exits will create instant

         19  fire traps and slums to be inhabited by immigrants

         20  and other poor people.  The Fire Department has been

         21  ordered to support the bill.  Numerous architects

         22  have expressed their concerns about it privately but

         23  not publicly for fear of retaliation by the

         24  Buildings Department, which like many other City

         25  agencies, is a rubber stamp for City Hall, rather
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          2  than an objective enforcer of the law.

          3                 A few examples will follow, which we

          4  think the Council might want to consider amending.

          5                 Hospital and nursing home bearing

          6  wall fire ratings. In order words, how long they can

          7  withstand a fire, would be reduced from four to

          8  three hours by Section 602 in some cases and from

          9  three to two hours in others.  Again, this is fire

         10  retardant properties on walls in hospitals and

         11  nursing homes inhabited by the most seriously

         12  disabled people in our City.

         13                 In spite of fatalities in recent

         14  dormitory fires, sprinkler requirements would be

         15  eliminated for six- story student housing.

         16                 Another section permits six- story

         17  combustible houses without a second means of egress,

         18  which is now required.

         19                 It also allows for sheetrock assembly

         20  firewalls between one and two- family three- story

         21  rowhouses rather than the current masonry wall

         22  requirements.  While sheetrock assembly walls test

         23  as well, if poorly constructed, they don't work and

         24  are too subject to degradation by water damage.

         25  Currently, wooden buildings Group R- 2- 3B IIc in
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          2  most of New York City must have a sprinkler system.

          3                 The proposed code would permit three-

          4  story wooden buildings up to 5,600 square feet

          5  without sprinklers.

          6                 We would want to ask the Council

          7  whether they want to come back here in three years

          8  to reconsider these actions after a disastrous fire

          9  from which victims could not escape.  After all,

         10  what happens if the sprinkler's pipes fail, which is

         11  what the bill relies on in many cases?

         12                 Another thing you might want to

         13  consider is that allowing PDC plastic pipe is also

         14  dangerous in a fire because while cheaper when it

         15  burns, it creates toxic smoke, which will be very

         16  dangerous to fire fighters.  Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.  When

         18  the light is off, the mic is on.  Just to help out.

         19                 MS. ESKENAS:  Thank you.  Apparently,

         20  the New York City Building Code is supposed to be

         21  the most stringent in the world.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  You do have to

         23  just state your name for the record.

         24                 MS. ESKENAS:  Yes, of course.  Linda

         25  Eskenas, Four Boroughs Neighborhood Preservation
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          2  Alliance, Preservation League of Staten Island, and

          3  West Brighton Preservation Society and the North

          4  Shore Waterfront Greenbelt.

          5                 The New York City Building Code is

          6  apparently the most stringent in the world.  Many

          7  other building codes are modeled after it.  This is

          8  an all encompassing change for New York City. It

          9  should be widely publicized and studied before we

         10  ask our City Council to vote on it, yet few people

         11  know of this hearing today.

         12                 This change also obviously poses a

         13  great danger to New York City at a time after the

         14  tragedy of 9/11 when we need security in all areas.

         15  The fire codes would be less stringent. This would

         16  inevitably cause people's lives, fire fighters,

         17  first responders, children, elderly and all

         18  citizens, but why?  Why would we want to do such a

         19  thing?

         20                 We do have the answer in the proposed

         21  code, Section 603.  It would save developers money.

         22  The construction costs would be lower virtually all

         23  of the new construction that takes place in New York

         24  City now is for luxury apartments, so it's not

         25  really for affordable housing, as is suggested.  Now
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          2  the builder developers are getting 20 to 25- year

          3  tax abatements to build luxury apartments in New

          4  York City.  The affordable housing that is being

          5  asked for is minimal and unenforced and not

          6  affordable at all in most cases.

          7                 Why would we want to endanger the

          8  safety of New Yorkers so that developer builders can

          9  make money while they falsely inflate the market

         10  with substandard, unattractive boxes? When the

         11  market corrects itself, all these will fail, and the

         12  taxpaying New Yorkers will pay, but the developers

         13  will already have taken the money out of the City,

         14  depleting our resources and destroying our City, our

         15  history, our neighborhoods and endangering our

         16  citizens.  No one should vote for that.  We're sure

         17  you would agree.

         18                 Section I11A, where sprinkler systems

         19  are not required in the new code, 3A11B combustible

         20  building materials are allowed.  A six- story,

         21  24,000 foot building, no sprinkler, is required.

         22  The current code says that sprinklers are required

         23  in what they call the fire district, which is

         24  virtually all of New York.  The new code says

         25  sprinklers are not required in the fire district,
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          2  which is virtually all of New York.

          3                 Removal of protections of firewalls

          4  made of masonry, these would be made of plaster

          5  board.  This would allow a fire to burn through

          6  whole rowhouses.  Hospitals, nursing homes, fire

          7  rating and walls is reduced from three hour

          8  protections to two hour.  Meanwhile the fire can be

          9  going on for two hours, and they may not know about

         10  it within the wall or in the next room.  And from

         11  four hours to three hours.  This would allow a six-

         12  story wood house not to have a second means of

         13  egress because it would be required to have only a

         14  sprinkler, but sprinklers fail when the water

         15  pressure is low, and this happens often.

         16                 Under the present code, wood

         17  buildings, R2, must have a sprinkler.  The new code

         18  three- story wood buildings, 5,600 square feet, no

         19  sprinklers required.  These are just a few examples,

         20  but it shows that this has to be gone over by you,

         21  and by other people.  I mean, nobody seems to know

         22  very much about this. We've had people who have been

         23  working on it who are privy to it, but you know this

         24  is New York, we have a lot of people that live here,

         25  and they should know about this.
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          2                 An attached wood frame building

          3  multiple dwelling without requirements for

          4  sprinklers and fire exits is a fire trap. This code

          5  does not belong in New York City.

          6                 Also, we've had many warnings about

          7  massive hurricanes that we are due for in New York

          8  City.  Hopefully, this will not happen, but the

          9  thought of potentially catastrophic high rise glass

         10  towers built with a code substandard to the one we

         11  have is unspeakable.

         12                 We must protect and preserve our City

         13  and its great history and its great people.  We must

         14  vote for them and our great future.

         15                 MR. MCCALLA:  My name is Daniel

         16  McCalla of the Four Borough Neighborhood

         17  Preservation Alliance.  Unfortunately, I am here to

         18  oppose Intro 578.  I have a concern that by

         19  approving this Intro, we're throwing up our hands

         20  and saying we can't fix the New York Buildings

         21  Department.

         22                 Over the past five years, this

         23  government agency has the reputation as the worst in

         24  the City.  As my testimony says, civic associations,

         25  the main complaint is the Buildings Department. A
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          2  friend of mine bought new housing in Al Vann's

          3  district, and the buildings inspector didn't even

          4  recognize the violation.  DOB is known for

          5  interpreting the old code in some very, how shall we

          6  say, mysterious ways.  If you read the testimony,

          7  some of those examples are there.

          8                 This proposed building code puts an

          9  emphasis on speed, which is strange because the

         10  Brooklyn Buildings Department approves building

         11  plans at a very fast rate, and no one really knows

         12  the actual numbers.  I'm concerned that this creates

         13  an environment of hit and run development.

         14                 This Administration puts money into

         15  condo developments.  How about we put money into

         16  more qualified building inspectors?  350 for New

         17  York City is disgraceful.  You're going to change

         18  the Building Code, and you only have 350 inspectors.

         19    I can't understand that.

         20                 Why are we speeding up the process

         21  when the Building Department is terrible?  I don't

         22  know why.  How can we go into a direction that tells

         23  homeowners to invest at your own risk?

         24                 The later chapters of the Building

         25  Code create the reality that fire safety is leaving
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          2  town, sorry about the misspelling.  How can we put

          3  an emphasis on less fireproofing on new construction

          4  because I can appreciate being able to read the new

          5  code, which I did.  However, I can't support this

          6  proposed code, which will put firemen's lives in

          7  more danger.  It's the new building materials that

          8  can become toxic under heated condition. It brings

          9  back the so- called Bad Old Days when developers

         10  approached building inspectors to move their project

         11  along pretty quickly.

         12                 The only thing, this process is

         13  excessively streamlined, or as I like to say,

         14  instant buildings.  The current code, as hard as it

         15  is, I think we need to reform it before we even

         16  consider putting in the new code.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, I'd like to

         18  thank the panel for testifying.  The only thing that

         19  I'll add is that I'm pretty certain that I asked the

         20  Commissioner about the sprinkler question, and I'm

         21  pretty certain that her answer was all three- story

         22  buildings would be sprinklered, but I will certainly

         23  double check that because I could have sworn that

         24  her answer to me on sprinklers is that it would

         25  include sprinklers on all three- family units.
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          2  That's what I understood earlier, but I will double

          3  check that.  Thank you all for your testimony today.

          4                 I understand at this time we have

          5  members of the AIA ready to testify, Mr. Mark

          6  Ginsberg, Mr. Rick Bell and Mr. Carl Galliotto.  If

          7  you have any written testimony, please give it to

          8  the Sergeant- at- Arms.  While they're coming in,

          9  I'd like to just reiterate if anyone has a cell

         10  phone to please put it on vibrate or shut it off,

         11  and if there's a need for private conversations, if

         12  it could please happen outside of the chambers.  You

         13  may begin in any order.

         14                 MR. BELL:  Thank you.  My name is

         15  Rick Bell.  I'm Executive Director of the New York

         16  Chapter, and I'm going to try to testify despite

         17  laryngitis, the first time speaking here at Council

         18  with laryngitis.  I've been privileged to speak many

         19  times in favor of the Building Code before, but I'll

         20  keep my remarks short.

         21                 The American Institute of Architects,

         22  New York Chapter, with over 4,200 architects and

         23  affiliate members in Manhattan is testifying today

         24  in favor of the new Building Code and Intro No. 578.

         25    Many of our members, including Carl Galliotto,
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          2  FAIA and Mark Ginsberg, FAIA, here on this panel

          3  today, have participated as volunteers in this

          4  important effort to rewrite the antiquated New York

          5  City Building Code, an endeavor that has brought

          6  together members of the City Council, New York City

          7  Buildings Department and the architectural,

          8  engineering and construction communities.  I myself

          9  was privileged to serve on two of the technical

         10  committees, including the Accessibility Committee,

         11  and I would like to, at the conclusion of the

         12  remarks in the Q & A period, if necessary, talk to

         13  some of the issues that came out of that committee.

         14                 The present New York City Building

         15  Code is obsolete in many ways, as has been

         16  documented at City Council hearings on numerous

         17  occasions.  Replacing it with a model code that has

         18  been studied, analyzed and mediated is of critical

         19  importance to our City and its neighborhoods during

         20  this period of extensive growth and regeneration.

         21                 As architects, our members know

         22  firsthand how difficult the current code is to use

         23  and how confusing and conflicting it is in many

         24  important regards, contributing to potential

         25  problems of public safety.
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          2                 The proposed construction codes

          3  address New York City's unique needs while making it

          4  easier, faster and less expensive to build.

          5                 The membership of the AIA New York

          6  Chapter fully supports the proposed construction

          7  codes as currently drafted and on the table today

          8  and urges the Committee on Housing and Buildings to

          9  support this Intro so that the Council can enact a

         10  new New York City construction codes.  At a meeting

         11  that we had with Council, senior staff on April

         12  23rd, we re- affirmed that there are no provisions

         13  whatsoever in the construction codes now on the

         14  table that are objectionable to our chapter members.

         15  To enable New York City to grow and incorporate

         16  innovative and sustainable design, we need to put

         17  the new construction codes into action, and we must

         18  do it now.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you, and I

         20  appreciate your efforts to testify.

         21                 MR. BELL:  I hope it was

         22  understandable.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Considering your

         24  current condition, you did very well.  When the

         25  light on the button is off, the mic is on.
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          2                 MR. GALLIOTTO:  Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman.  Good afternoon.  My name is Carl

          4  Galliotto, and I am speaking in support of Intro 578

          5  to adopt a new building code for the City of New

          6  York. I'm speaking on behalf of AIA New York

          7  Chapter.  I have been involved in the building code

          8  change process since shortly after 9/11.

          9                 In my practice, I am a partner in the

         10  firm of Skidmore, Owings & Merrill and the architect

         11  of record for projects such as Terminal 4 at JFK

         12  Airport, Seven World Trade Center and the Freedom

         13  Tower at the World Trade Center.

         14                 New York City has revised its

         15  building code once in the past 70 years, and that

         16  was nearly 40 years ago.  Complying with the current

         17  New York City code is dependent upon clubhouse

         18  knowledge, oral histories and anachronistic

         19  technologies.  The current building code is poorly

         20  organized, indexed and cross referenced with

         21  redundant and contradictory requirements.  Some of

         22  the standards that are referenced, including federal

         23  safety standards, are documents that were superseded

         24  years and some cases decades ago.

         25                 The proposed New York City code is
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          2  based on a family of a national model, the

          3  International Code, has been adopted in all or in

          4  part in all 50 states, including New York State, New

          5  Jersey and Connecticut.  In this matter, New York

          6  City currently lies in backward isolation and

          7  competitive disadvantage from the rest of its own

          8  metropolitan area and the remainder of the United

          9  States.

         10                 This family of codes is updated every

         11  three years and is informed by the latest research

         12  and improvements considered in an open and

         13  transparent process.  A model code is based on

         14  national and international research and experience

         15  and is intended only as a framework, a master

         16  specification to be modified by local jurisdictions.

         17    In this regard, New York City was not willing to

         18  be outdone.

         19                 In addition to the Department of

         20  Buildings' own expert staff, over 400 professionals,

         21  volunteers composed of practicing architects,

         22  engineers, as well as representatives from the real

         23  estate and construction industry, participated and

         24  customized this model code into one that is best

         25  suited for New York City.  The new code therefore
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          2  has the best of everything, a model code based on

          3  national standards that is customized for the unique

          4  conditions of high density and diverse construction

          5  and occupancy types.

          6                 There may be some minor points in the

          7  proposed code that can be debated, but they are only

          8  that, minor points.  The minor issues cannot detract

          9  from the importance of moving forward in this

         10  critical initiative.

         11                 Having worked with building codes

         12  throughout the United States, in Europe and

         13  throughout Asia, I can assure you that this proposed

         14  building code will be the best in the world, a

         15  building code befitting a world capital that

         16  advances the cause of safety, sustainability and

         17  accessibility with cost effective requirements

         18  supportive of development.  Therefore, on behalf of

         19  AIA New York, I urge City Council to move this

         20  legislation forward.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.

         22                 MR. GINSBERG:  I am Mark Ginsberg.

         23  Thank you very much for this opportunity to speak.

         24  I am a past President of the AIA New York Chapter

         25  and speaking for the Chapter.  I have also been an
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          2  alternate member of the Managing Committee of the

          3  Model Code Program and a member of the Housing

          4  Committee.  My architectural firm was hired by EDC

          5  to develop various low- rise housing schemes to use

          6  for cost studies of the new code.  I also want to

          7  compliment the Department of Buildings for creating

          8  an amazing inclusionary process bringing in a

          9  tremendous number of experts.

         10                 I want to give a few specific

         11  examples when we all talk about anachronistic, badly

         12  organized, unclear, it may not be clear enough for

         13  you.

         14                 One example is the requirements for

         15  trash chutes and trash compactors, including fire

         16  ratings and sprinklers are not in the code.  They're

         17  in Appendix A of the code.  This is at the very

         18  back, past the reference standards.  It is not

         19  indexed anywhere or cross- referenced, so the only

         20  way I as an architect can know that's there is if I

         21  know it's there.  If I don't know it's there, unless

         22  I read every page of the code, including every

         23  appendix and reference standard, I would never find

         24  it.  This makes it very hard for architects to build

         25  buildings to meet the code if you can't even find
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          2  the information in the code.

          3                 Another example, New York has

          4  something called the MEA, which a Material Equipment

          5  Acceptance, which takes national testing ratings,

          6  reviews them and approves things for use in New York

          7  City, for example, fire rated doors.  I have been on

          8  job sites where the contractor who installed the

          9  fire rated door with the UL label, which is a

         10  nationally accepted label, that I know is the same

         11  as an MEA approved door, but I can't accept because

         12  legally it hasn't been approved for New York City.

         13  This creates cost, waste of time, inefficiencies.

         14  Those are just two examples of issues with the

         15  current code.

         16                 Another issue I think is important to

         17  address, a lot of the projects we do are energy

         18  efficient, lead rated.  The current code discourages

         19  and in many ways prevents energy efficiency, and I

         20  could go into details.  Only 10 to 15 percent of a

         21  building's lifetime cost is the construction cost.

         22  Anything we can do to make a building more efficient

         23  is going to make it much less costly over the life

         24  of the building.

         25                 Finally, I want to talk for a minute

                                                            168

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  about what other people have talked about, the four-

          3  story walk up prototype. I won't go into details

          4  except for the fact that included in the testimony

          5  are pictures of two buildings, one by my firm and

          6  one by another firm of four- story walk ups done

          7  under the current code. They're 2,000 square feet,

          8  and they also had a number of preconsiderations from

          9  the Department of Buildings.  Just so you have more

         10  of a physical idea.

         11                 There are two points that were

         12  recently made in other testimony that I just want to

         13  correct.  Currently, any residential building with

         14  four or more units is required to be fully

         15  sprinklered.  That is not changing under the

         16  proposed code, but, in addition, one, two and three-

         17  family buildings that are attached will need to be

         18  sprinklered.

         19                 The other point just very quickly is

         20  there was a comment about no affordable housing

         21  built in New York City.  My small firm of ten

         22  people, we're working on over 2,000 units of housing

         23  now of which significantly more than half, or more

         24  than 1,000, are affordable housing units, so that I

         25  think this code is going to help what is the City's
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          2  significant commitment to the production of

          3  affordable housing.  Thank you very much for your

          4  consideration, and I hope for your support of the

          5  legislation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you very

          7  much.  At this time, the Housing and Buildings

          8  Committee will take a 10 minute recess.  We're going

          9  to be moving into the committee room to accommodate

         10  a committee with a much larger audience at this time

         11  to take over this room, so the Housing and Buildings

         12  Committee will recess for 10 minutes and then resume

         13  in the committee room.

         14                      (10 Minute Recess Taken)

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, Committee

         16  is out of recess, and the next panel I'd like to

         17  call will be Mr. Chester Vogel, Mr. Michael Stallone

         18  and Mr. John Bower.  We've also been joined by

         19  Council Member Joel Rivera from the Bronx and

         20  Council Member Maria Baez from the Bronx.  The

         21  Sergeant- at- Arms that's right there will take that

         22  from you.  You may proceed in any order that you

         23  may.  Sergeant, I think we're going to institute a

         24  liberal, and I mean liberal, two- minute clock.  You

         25  may begin.
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          2                 MR. BOWER:  Good afternoon.  My name

          3  is John Bower. I'm Vice- President of ABCO Peerless

          4  Sprinkler Corporation and the current Chair of the

          5  Fire Protection Technical Committee of the New York

          6  Model Code Project.  I have over 30 years of fire

          7  protection design experience, over 20 of which is in

          8  New York City.

          9                 The development of the proposed New

         10  York City construction codes, which are being

         11  considered here today, involve with regard to at

         12  least the fire protection technical committee and

         13  others, innumerable hours of time and effort of the

         14  roughly 30 members of this committee.  This time and

         15  effort included weekly meetings of both the full

         16  committee and various work panels who worked under

         17  the full committee and it has occurred over the past

         18  four years.

         19                 Some issues were resolved quite

         20  easily, but many issues required hours of

         21  discussion.  All were resolved with virtually to the

         22  unanimous satisfaction of all members present.

         23                 The New York City construction codes

         24  have not been revised in any global sense in nearly

         25  40 years.  The New York City codes had evolved into
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          2  a very specialized set of codes that require

          3  materials and methods only employed in New York

          4  City.  This resulted in increased cost without

          5  commensurate benefit in safety.

          6                 As an example, the Fire Protection

          7  Committee was successful in eliminating the

          8  requirement of a manual fire pump in buildings over

          9  300 feet in height in favor of increased in building

         10  water storage and automatic pumping capability,

         11  essentially consistent with the International Model

         12  Codes, resulting both in decreased cost and enhanced

         13  safety.  The manual fire pump is a very expensive

         14  piece of equipment which is used rarely, if ever,

         15  and only required in New York City.

         16                 If this code is adopted, sprinklers

         17  would not be required in all residential buildings

         18  three- family and greater and in one and two- family

         19  dwellings exceeding 30 feet in height.  This allows

         20  the use of single stairs in certain buildings

         21  without the use of exterior fire escapes.  Single or

         22  multi- station hardwired smoke detectors would be

         23  required in all dwelling units inter- connected so

         24  that if one detector operates, all will sound.

         25                 As a whole, the proposed code is a
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          2  vast improvement over the existing code, and I

          3  strongly recommend its enactment. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you, Mr.

          5  Bower.

          6                 MR. BOWER:  You're welcome.

          7                 MR. VOGEL:  Good afternoon, Chairman

          8  Dilan, Council Members of the Committee of Housing

          9  and Buildings.  My name is Chester T. Vogel, P.E.

         10  And a Fellow of American Council of Engineering

         11  Companies and a consulting engineer here in New York

         12  City.  I have almost 50 years of experience and have

         13  spent the past 45 years as a member of the

         14  engineering, consulting and design community.

         15                 My entry into the construction

         16  industry was in the mid- 60's just prior to the

         17  implementation of what we currently call the

         18  Building Code of the City of New York, what used to

         19  be known as the New Building Code.  That code was

         20  introduced and became effective in 1968 and '69, and

         21  I've had nearly 40 years of experience in the use of

         22  that code and can tell you that it severely hinders

         23  the implementation of designs for mechanical and

         24  electrical systems of which is my specialty and

         25  experience.
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          2                 I represent the Mechanical HVAC and

          3  Boiler Committee of the Model Code Implementation

          4  Panel and our committee is responsible for the

          5  portion of the code before you today that is the New

          6  York City mechanical code.

          7                 The code was written by

          8  representatives of labor industry, engineering,

          9  design, real estate and construction, as well as

         10  representatives of New York City government agencies

         11  and consisted of approximately 35 members and

         12  leaders with interest and expertise in mechanical,

         13  HVAC and boilers.

         14                 Six panels were developed by our

         15  committee, which wrote the general requirements,

         16  ventilation, boilers and chimneys, equipment,

         17  refrigeration and piping, portions of the code

         18  including fuel oil piping and storage, all during

         19  the past three and a half years.  We met regularly,

         20  and we also were responsible for developing portions

         21  of the New York City fuel gas code, which is part of

         22  the model code presented before you today.

         23                 Some of the highlights of the

         24  proposed new code include improved ventilation

         25  standards in accordance with ASHRAE Standard 62.
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          2  The American Society of Heating Refrigeration and

          3  Air Conditioning Engineers has over the past 40

          4  years developed a much more comprehensive standard

          5  for ventilation design, which is actually

          6  implemented by most engineers today throughout the

          7  country, as well as in New York City, because the

          8  ventilation index which we are saddled with under

          9  the current building code is so archaic and more

         10  than 40 years old.

         11                 We wrote standards for kitchen

         12  ventilation and exhaust requirements consistent with

         13  ASHRAE Standard 96, and the current Fire Department

         14  of New York requirements.

         15                 Fuel oil piping and storage and fuel

         16  oil tank construction standards were updated in

         17  accordance with National Fire Protection

         18  requirements and the Fire Department of New York

         19  recommendations.  Boiler and burner designs and

         20  chimney construction were written in accordance with

         21  national standards and current technology and are

         22  consistent with environmental criteria.

         23                 We believe we have developed a code

         24  that is comprehensive and will enhance public safety

         25  and encourage economic growth in our City.  The IMC
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          2  and the IFGC, as they're referred to, and their

          3  amendments, are extensive and written in code

          4  language with reference to national standards and

          5  will now become, with your approval, the codes of

          6  the City of New York.

          7                 Our work is closely coordinated with

          8  the plumbing code, which is Local Law 99 of '05, I

          9  believe, and the New York City Building Code before

         10  you for consideration today.

         11                 Therefore, for the reasons stated

         12  above and to acknowledge the extraordinary efforts

         13  of more than 400 of our volunteers involved with

         14  this code, we strongly recommend your support and

         15  adoption of Intro 578.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you, Mr.

         17  Vogel.

         18                 MR. STALLONE:  Hello, and good

         19  afternoon.  My name is Michael Stallone.  I'm a

         20  member of the AIA, NCARB.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Mr. Stallone,

         22  just check.  I'm not certain if your mic is on.  If

         23  the light is off --

         24                 MR. STALLONE:  I think I just raised

         25  the volume a little maybe.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Or maybe just

          3  pull it a tad closer to you.

          4                 MR. STALLONE:  Okay.  Is that any

          5  better?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Slightly.

          7                 MR. STALLONE:  Good afternoon.  My

          8  name is Michael Stallone.  I'm an architect and

          9  certified code enforcement officer for the State of

         10  New York.  I'm here to speak on behalf of the

         11  Materials Committee, which was comprised of

         12  representatives of private industry, FDNY, DDC,

         13  REBNY, PANYNJ, contractors, architects, engineers

         14  and labor.  You will, I'm sure, agree that this is a

         15  very wide and inclusive cross- section of our

         16  industry. The Materials Committee was chaired by Ms.

         17  Fruma Narov, who sends her regrets for not being

         18  able to be here today.

         19                 The charge of the Materials Committee

         20  required an in depth analysis of the following

         21  chapters of the IBC code, 14 exterior walls, 19

         22  concrete, 21 masonry, 22 steel, 23 wood, 24 glass

         23  and glazing, 25 gypsum board and plaster and 26

         24  plastics. Some of these chapters were reviewed by

         25  our committee in their entirety and some were shared
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          2  with other committees.

          3                 Building codes exist to preserve the

          4  public health, safety and welfare and to minimize

          5  property damage while at the same time facilitate

          6  growth and economic development.  Many jurisdictions

          7  have adopted building codes developed by members of

          8  all sectors of the building industry.  Other

          9  jurisdictions develop their building codes

         10  independently and through their own parochial

         11  practice.  The current New York City building code

         12  falls into the latter category.

         13                 It was first introduced, as everyone

         14  has said, 40 years ago.  Unfortunately, the lack of

         15  resources to re- visit the provisions to this code

         16  on a periodic basis and update it has made this code

         17  a stagnant code and much of its content is outdated

         18  and has not kept up with the changes in technology

         19  and available materials.  Although a major

         20  accomplishment in its time, it is now in dire need

         21  of revision.

         22                 To mention but one of the aspects of

         23  this code that is not in keeping with our changing

         24  time, this code was written in an era when we did

         25  not respect the limited nature of our resources and
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          2  had no appreciation for the need for sustainable

          3  design.

          4                 A building code by its very nature

          5  must be a dynamic set of rules and regulations that

          6  reflects the latest in safety practices and

          7  technology.  Model codes set up stringent

          8  performance regulations for all aspects of the built

          9  environment, but do not specifically prescribe the

         10  methods or technology necessary to achieve those

         11  safety and health requirements.  These codes set a

         12  very high performance standard, but rely on design

         13  professionals for interpretation and compliance.

         14  Model codes get updated on a periodic basis, which

         15  helps keep them alive and current.

         16                 The Materials Committee compared the

         17  current New York City building code with the IBC

         18  code, evaluated the difference between them and,

         19  when necessary, amended the language of the IBC code

         20  to meet the unique environment and requirements of

         21  this very special City.

         22                 As a group, we examined the special

         23  aspects of the New York City environment, and by

         24  using information and experience from several other

         25  jurisdictions like Chicago, Philadelphia, Boston,

                                                            179

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Las Vegas and states such as New York, North

          3  Carolina, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts, we were

          4  able to determine how these jurisdictions

          5  assimilated the proposed code and if there were any

          6  pertinent revisions that we can learn from.

          7                 We spoke with code enforcement

          8  officials in other jurisdictions with practical work

          9  experience in enforcing code revision, as well as

         10  with other practitioners to help with our

         11  determinations.  We also examined what was unique to

         12  New York and how best to address those problems.

         13                 One such example is the control of

         14  the quality of concrete that has been an ongoing

         15  issue in New York City.  How could we ensure that

         16  the concrete placed was of the highest quality?

         17  Members of the industry such as concrete producers,

         18  teamsters, concrete contractors and professionals

         19  all work together to incorporate best practices into

         20  the production of concrete that will improve the

         21  quality, consistency and sustainability of the final

         22  product.

         23                 Overall, over 400 professionals have

         24  volunteered their time to make the adoption of the

         25  new code in New York City a possible reality.  We
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          2  are very proud of the outcome, but it is also

          3  important to remember the process, one of inclusion,

          4  communication and compromise, all along being

          5  watched by design professionals on the committees to

          6  ensure that safety is not compromised.  We ask that

          7  the City Council adopt the proposed code because it

          8  is in the best interests of the public health,

          9  safety and welfare of this great City.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you very

         11  much, Mr. Stallone.  I appreciate the members of the

         12  various technical committees to come down and

         13  testify and share their experience with this

         14  Committee.  Thank you for coming down today.

         15                 The last person this Committee will

         16  hear from today will be Mr. Robert Altman.

         17                 MR. ALTMAN:  Good afternoon.  My name

         18  is Robert Altman, and I am the Legislative

         19  Consultant to the Building Industry Association of

         20  New York City and the Queens and Bronx Building

         21  Association.  Our associations are chapters of the

         22  New York State Builders Association and represent

         23  builders and contractors in the Bronx, Brooklyn,

         24  Queens and Staten Island within the New York State

         25  Builders Association.
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          2                 I am here today to testify on Intro

          3  No. 578.  First, our associations generally support

          4  the legislation and find it refreshing that the

          5  Commissioner and her staff have been engaged in

          6  moving the code into the 21st century.  Because this

          7  is a new code, we believe that there should be

          8  significant training of DOB staff before its

          9  permanent implementation in order to minimize the

         10  effects of the transition from the old code to the

         11  new code.  Thus, the Council should be sure to fully

         12  fund the needs of DOB, so that our members do not

         13  need to fight inappropriate actions taken in error

         14  by poorly trained staff.

         15                 Second, we are disappointed in the

         16  extension of the requirement of sprinklers to three-

         17  family dwellings, two- family townhouses and one and

         18  two- family detached dwellings above 30 feet,

         19  despite the fact that such mandatory requirement was

         20  not included by the International Codes Committee in

         21  its proposal.

         22                 Simply put, sprinklers do not save

         23  lives.  They save property.  Functioning smoke

         24  detectors save lives.  Under the current code and

         25  the new code, smoke detectors are hard wired into a

                                                            182

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  building's electrical system, so that there's no

          3  need to replace a battery, a common and tragic

          4  omission in some instances.

          5                 A smoke detector warns people to

          6  leave.  Sprinklers do not.  Moreover, the smoke

          7  detector does not cause property damage if it

          8  inadvertently goes off.  Sprinklers cause property

          9  damage if they inadvertently go off.

         10                 Most deaths from fires occur in old

         11  code dwellings where smoke detectors rely on a

         12  battery and for whatever reason the battery does not

         13  work or is never replaced.  Newer one, two and

         14  three- family dwellings do not have these issues

         15  because smoke detectors are hard wired and the home

         16  is built to a higher standard.  As a result of these

         17  standards, fire deaths have dropped significantly

         18  over the past 25 years as the nation's housing stock

         19  turns over.

         20                 Moreover, sprinklers are expensive.

         21  By DOB's estimate, a sprinkler in a one- family home

         22  will cost over $6,000 and even more in larger

         23  dwellings.  And the annual maintenance on the system

         24  is an additional burden on the homeowner.  At a time

         25  when the City has drastically curtailed its tax
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          2  exemptions for new one, two and three- family homes,

          3  new home ownership will be even more difficult for

          4  New Yorkers.

          5                 Finally, if there are sprinklers, the

          6  attached letter discusses a technical issue that the

          7  associations would like the committee to revise.  We

          8  strongly urge DOB and the Council to support the

          9  revisions put forth by this letter.  While written

         10  by the Building Industry Association, the letter has

         11  the endorsement of the Queens and Bronx Building

         12  Association as well.

         13                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  testify.  I will be happy to answer any questions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I would just say

         16  thank you for your testimony.  This sprinkler issue

         17  was something that we addressed on many occasions

         18  during the day, and I'll take a look at the letter

         19  because it's an issue of concern to myself as well,

         20  and I guess have a conversation with you should I

         21  find anything that is of interest.  We'd like to

         22  thank you again for coming in to testify.

         23                 MR. ALTMAN:  My pleasure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  With that, Intro

         25  578 will be laid over at the adjournment of this
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          2  hearing.  The second hearing on Intro 578 will take

          3  place on June 20th at 10:00 a.m. in the chambers,

          4  and, with that, this Committee is adjourned.  Intro

          5  578 is laid over.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 2:39 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, DEBORAH RICHARDS, do hereby

         10  certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate

         11  transcript of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 13th day of June 2007.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          DEBORAH RICHARDS
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3
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          8

          9            I, DEBORAH RICHARDS, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         22                 -----------------------
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         23

         24

         25

